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Q. Now will you tell us whether or not that page 
contains entries indicating the selection of names of 
(3854) potential jurors from sources other than voters 
registry lists in Manhattan and Bronx~ A. It says on 
:March 3 150 notices were mailed from the Manhattan 
Telephone Directory. 

Q. Is that t.he only one? A. There is another on 
March 19. 

Q. How many mailings on March 19 Y A. 50. 
Q. So that makes a total of 200 sent in March 1947, 

is that right~ A. That is correct. 
Q. Now will you be kind enough to turn to page 3 of 

Exhibit 179 and tell me what month and what year that 
page has reference toY A. April 1947. 

Q. That is just two months prior to the drawing of 
the jury which indicted these defendants, is that right Y 
A. That is correct.. 

Q. Will you look at that page and tell us whether it 
contains entries indicating that sources other than the 
voters registry lists were -consulted in respect to the selec­
tion of names of potential jurors for the month of April 
or in the month of April 1947~ A. It does. 

Q. \tVill you please read or tell us how many such 
sources there are on that page, such other sources? A. 
On April 2, 1947, 175. 

Q. Will you be good enough to take this piece of paper 
and calculate the total number for me, Mr. McKenzie, 
( 3855) on that page~ 

The Court : How many were there on that first 
page, 250? 

Mr. Sacher: 250, your Honor. And 200 on the 
second. 

The Court : 200 on the second page~ 
Mr. Sacher: Yes. 
The Court : Now is he on the third page? 
Mr. Sacher: He is on the third, your Honor. 

It is the third page of Exhibit 179. 
The Court : Yes. 

A. On April 2, 175. 
Q. Of what 1 175 from all sources 1 A. From the 

1\fanhattan Telephone Directory. 
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Mr. Crockett: Is that the address telephone 
directory? 

Q. That is the address telephone book, isn't it? A. 
Yes. 

The Court: All the references are to that book, 
as I understand it. 

Mr. Sacher: That is right. 
The Witness: On April 11, 100; on April 14, 

200; on April 25, 200; on April 30, 100. 

Q. Will you now tally the result? A. 775. 
Q. I show you your affidavit of October 6th, which is 

(3856) Exhibit 227, and ask you to tell the Court whether 
you made any mention of names selected from the Man­
hattan Telephone Directory in that affidavit? A. When this 
affidavit was made? 

Q. Yes. 

Mr. Gordon: Just a minute. Answer the ques­
tion, please. 

The Court : Yes. 
Mr. Gordon : Did you make any mention of it 

in the affidavit~ 
The Witness: No, I did not. 

Q. Now is it correct to say, Mr. McKenzie, that all of 
the entries on all of the pages in Exhibit 179 are in refer ... 
ence exclusively to mailings of jury qualification notices 
to potential jurors in Manhattan and the Bronx? Will 
you be good enough to look through that? It should not 
take you too long. A. For the year of 1947? 

Q. Yes, and 1948, for that matter, if the Court has no 
objection. A. In other words, was any jurors listed here 
other than-

·Q. Manhattan and Bronx. A. Manhattan and Bronx 1 
Q. Yes. A. In the month of January it is just the 

list of registered voters-
Q. Look, you don't mean just the registered voters 

(3857) because you testified .a few minutes ago it was 
250-
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The Court: Both counties, Manhattan and Bronx. 

A. In January-

1\1r. Gordon: Now, your Honor, Nir. Sacher is 
now deliberately misstating the witness's testimony, 
or perhaps accidentally doing so-

The Court: I thought it was accidental. I really 
do. 

Mr. Gordon: But he is arguing with the witness. 
1'Ir. Sacher: He thinks when you go after me 

he is entitled to go after me too. Now two big men 
going over one little fellow, it just ain't sportin'. 

1\1r. Gordon: May I state an objection without 
interruption 1 And then I will sit down. 

The Court: Yes, you may. 
Mr. Gordon: I object to the statement of counsel 

that the witness just testified that he selected jurors 
during the month of January from the Manhattan 
Telephone Directory when it appears that after 
this detailed analysis and examination that the 250 
names he was talking about were on February 26 
and February 27, which is not the month of January. 

The Court : That is right. 
1\!Ir. Gordon: And I object to continuing this, 

your Honor, unless we get to some point, because it 
( 3858) seems to be irrelevant and simply time­
consuming. 

Mr. Sacher: Time-consuming, yes , but not 
irrelevant. 

The Court: Well, Mr. Sacher, you have asked 
him to look through the book and see whether there 
were notices sent in 1947 and 1948 to any prospec­
tive jurors residing elsewhere than Manhattan and 
the Bronx. 

Mr. Sacher: If your Honor is willing to take 
my statement for it, I will give it to you. I have 
looked through the book and-

The Court: No such thing¥ 
Mr. Sacher: No such entry. And subject to 

correction-
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The Court: That is a good way to do that. We 
will leave that subject to correction and pass on to 
something else. 

Q. Now would you be kind enough to add up the total 
number of names selected on pages 1, 2 and 3 from the 
Manhattan Tel phone Directory, Mr. McKenzie~ You had 
250-do you want to write them down on a little slip of 
paper~ 

The Court: I have got them here. It is 625. 
Mr. Sacher: Oh no, your Honor. Your addi­

tion-
The Court : vV ell, page 1, 250 ; page 2, 200; page 

3, 175. 
Mr. Sacher: 775. 
(3859) The Court: Oh, I thought it was 175. 
Mr. Sacher: 775. 
Mr. Gordon: Are we just adding them all T 
Mr. Sacher: Yes, just as Mr. Wilkerson was 

asked to add up, we are asking Mr. McKenzie to 
add up. 

The Court : Now, if you are going to do that 
sort of thing I am going to put a stop to this, Mr. 
Sacher: 

Mr. Sacher: All right, I withdraw it. 
The Court: Now, you know, it is all right to 

be indulgent but I am reaching the point where I 
don't want those cracks and comments. 

~:fr. Sacher: All right. They are no reflection 
on your Honor, you know that. 

The Court: I know, but it is disturbing to the 
dignity of the Court and the proceedings here­

Mr. Sacher: I shall refrain. 
The Court: -and it is so unnecessary to do it. 
Mr. Sacher: I shall refrain, your Honor. 
The Court : Now, he is looking through there 

now and he is going to give us the figures. 

A. That is for the first three pages 1 
( 3860) Q. Yes. A. The total of the three combined, 

1200. 
Q. You are 25 shy. A.. 25 shy~ 
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Mr. Sacher: Is your Honor willing to take my 
figures 1 

The Court : Yes. 
Mr. Sacher: 1225. 
The Court: It is 1225 according to my calcula­

tion. So, let us take it at 1225 and proceed. 

Q. Now, where did you select the names of my country­
men, the Westchester jurors, Mr. McKenzie~ A. From the 
Directory of Directors. 

Q. And in what years did you select Westchester jurors 
from the Directory of Directors 1 A. Back in 1940 and 
possibly 1941, the latter part of 1947, and the early part 
of 1948, I believe. 

Q. Now do you mean that between 1941 and the latter 
part of 194 7 you did not send out a single notice to poten­
tial Weestchester jurors; is that what you are telling this 
Court~ A. Say, from the period of time I came back from 
the armed forces-

Q. That was April 1943, we know that; yes. A. After 
April and the middle-after April 1943 we only sent out 
from the list of registered voters, unless an individual 
name was submitted and that resided in Westchester 
County it went out. 

(.3861) Q. What is that? A. If the name resided in 
Westchester County it was sent out. 

Q. But you have testified several times now that you 
never got a name of a registered voter from Westchester 
County because you didn't have a true- A. I don't mean 
he is a registered voter; I am talking about the individual 
name. 

Q. Where did you get individual names between the 
time you came back in April 1943 !and the latter part of 
August 1947? Where did you get the names in that four and 
a half year period? Where did you get them from 7 

The Court: For Westchester. 
Mr. Sacher: For Westchester, your Honor. 

A. There were no names other than the volunteer or a 
name that would be submitted on an individual; but, in 
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other words, the only two books we worked on was one for 
Manhattan and one for Bronx. 

Q. I am trying to find out from you whether you took 
the name of any Westchester resident from any book source 
between April '43 and the latter part of August 1947. A. 
That I do not know. 

Q. Isn't it the truth that you continued to get names 
of Westchester potential jurors from April 1943 to the 
latter part of August 1947 in the identical way in which 
you always took their names before April 1943 and in the 
( 3862) identical way you always took them after the latter 
part of August 1947, namely, from the Directory of Direc­
tors? A. That is not so, definitely not. 

Q. Well, I ask you then, name some source from which 
you got names of Westchester residents 1 A. From April 
1943 until February-

Q. The latter part of August 1947. Where did you get 
Westchester names from? A. We did not secure any 
names for Westchester from 1943 down until the time of 
'47. 

Q. Do you mean that in that four and a half year period 
you didn't get any additional Westchester jurors; is that 
what you mean? A. If an individual letter was sent in 
and the man's name was-

Q. Did you get any individual letters? A. I may have, 
I don't know. 

Q. No. Did you? A. Anyone could have­
Q. No. A. I don't know. 

The Court: He says he doesn't know. 
Mr. Sacher: That is it, just say no. 
Mr. Gordon: I am going to object, your Honor, 

to this method of cross-examination. And may I 
take this opportunity to say that Mr. Sacher said 
he would give your Honor his word that in this 
book, which is Exhibit 179, there are no notices 
sent to anybody outside of the Bronx or New York 
County, or Westchester I think (386'3) he in­
cluded-

The Court: No, not of Westchester. 
Mr. Sacher: No. 
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The Court: The statement, as I understood it, 
was that no notices were sent to anyone outside of 
Manhattan and the Bronx. 

Mr. Sacher: Mr. Gordon has discovered some 
20 notices sent to Putnam County, where the Gover­
nor of the State lives. 

Mr. Gordon: Now wait a minute. Now I take it 
that Mr. Sacher-

Mr. Sacher: If you regard that as material, I 
made an error. 

The Court : Now Mr. Sacher, you are taking con­
trol again, aren't you' It is really amusing-you 
just get a little opening and then you are spread­
eagling all over the courtroom. It is simply won­
derful. 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, Mr. Sacher made a 
representation which you said you would take sub­
ject to correction. 

The Court: I did say that. 
Mr. Gordon: I am not saying that the number 

of names as to these other -counties was large, but 
I am saying that if your Honor will look in the book 
you will see that the fact is that there were notices 
·sent not only (3864) to Putnam County but a few 
as well to Orange and Rockland Counties, and you 
will find it on page 4 and page 19. 

Mr. Sacher: Let me tell the Court how many 
there are on each page. 

The Court: Mr. Sacher­
Mr. Sacher: Oh, I am sorry. 
The Court: You know, it is a funny thing, but 

it may be that there are lots of other people the 
same way-the word "accuracy" does not seem to 
mean to some people to get a, thing exactly right; 
if it is a general, vague figure that is more or. 
less the same that means accuracy. Now to me, ac­
curacy means but one thing. 

Mr. Sacher: I love it. 
The Court: And you made the statement which 

now seems to be erroneous, and the particulars in 
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which it is erroneous are for me to determine as 
to what their weight may be. 

Mr. Sacher: I shall wait for the determination. 
The Court: So let us not blow it all up into a 

big controversy, but let me look and see what the 
book shows. I may say, too, that I do not see how 
the defense can blow hot and cold; on the one hand, 
if no notices are sent to certain districts that is sup­
posed to be discrimination, and then if there are 
other districts and there are no notices sent to them, 
although it does not seem to be ( 3865) in the same 
category as the others, then there is something 
wrong about it. 

Mr. S.acher: Oh, I am objeeting; I am a resi­
dent of Westchester and I want to know why my 
county was discriminated against here. 

The Court: Well, that is the place where you 
were telling me earlier that all the rich people were. 
And I don't know-

Mr. Sacher: Yonkers ain't too rich, your Honor! 
The Court: Well, as far as I can see it is not 

going to be possible for people who are running a 
jury system to send out notices in equal number to 
all the different districts that may be in such a very 
large place as the Southern District of New York. 
And when you point out that no notices were sent 
to Westchester I think to myself: Well, that is the 
same sort of thing perhaps that no notices were 
sent to other districts, and some time I suppose 
somebody is going to ask him why, and we will see 
what his reason may be. 

But let me look at the book here and see what I 
find. 

Oh, yes. On page 4 there are some in Putnam. 
Mr. Sacher: How many? 
The Court: .A relatively small county . .And there 

are two pages of ten each. 
(3866) Mr. Gordon: Mr. Sacher knows it, your 

Honor. He has ·Exhibit 182, which was prepared 
for the defense by the witness yesterday morning 
and banded to him. 
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Mr. Sacher: Mr. Gordon is wrong. I don't 
have that exhibit. And if I had it maybe I wouldn't 
have made this minuscule error. 

The Witness: Your Honor-
The Court: Everybody will get into this in a 

minute. I never saw anything like it. 
Now, let n1e see about the others. 
JYir. Sacher: Mr. Gordon not only reads my 

mind but counts my possessions too. That doesn't 
happen to be among them. 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, I object to further­
The Court: It is the most extraordinary thing. 

He is perfectly incorrigible. 
Mr. Gordon: I suggest that he continue with the 

cross-examination. 
The Court: Well, I know. Now, let me look to 

see where the others went. We found some in Put­
nam. And you say there are also some in Orange 
County. 

Mr. Gordon: There seem to be five from Orange 
and five from Rockland. 

The Court : All right. 

(3867) By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Where did you get-

Mr. Sacher: I am sorry. 
The Court: You may proceed. 

Q. Where did you get the names of the 20 residents 
of Putnam County who are referred to on-

Mr. Sacher: Page 4, is it, your Honor¥ 
The Court: I think it is page 4. 

Q. -of Exhibit 179 1 A. From the Telephone Direc­
tory. 

Q. From the Mahanttan Telephone Directory? A. An­
other Telephone Directory of the upstate counties. 

Q. You mean you just took 20 names at random from 
Putnam County Telephone Directory, is that it1 A. We 
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took names to try out the Telephone Directory of that 
particular book, whatever it may have been. 

Q. Well, are you sure 1 Is there anything which indi­
cates that it was from a telephone directory1 A. I know 
I had the telephone directories there and when I turned 
it over to a man to write them out-

Q. Is there anything on page-

Mr. Gordon: Wait a minute. Let him finish the 
answer. 

A. (Continuing) When I turned the Telephone Directory 
book over to the man to write out some notices he wrote 
out some to those particular counties, and when they were 
(3868) mailed we received a letter from the clerk of the 
Northern District informing us that we had sent several 
notices to prospective jurors that resided in the Northern 
District and wanted to know if their district had been 
changed. We then checked up and found out in Putnam 
County, or whatever county book it was, the particular 

·name and address that was in that book lived in the North­
ern District. It was very tricky, and we stopped using it. 

Q. Did you have any indication from the Telephone 
book whether these people to whom you were sending 
notices were between the ages of 21 and 701 A. ,No, we 
did not. 

Q. That is a requirement, isn't it, for eligibility for 
jury service? A. We looked at names-

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to. 
The Court: Sustained. Let us not have that. 

Q. When you sent notices to Putnam County was it be­
cause you were in need of additional jurors, Mr. McKenzief 
A. Our hope is always to get a cross-section of all dis­
tricts. 

Mr. Sacher: I move to strike that out as not 
responsive to my question. 

The Court : I will let it stand. 
Mr. Sacher: I still have to get an answer to my 

question, so may I put it again f 
The Court : Let us have it. 
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( 3869) Q. Did you send out notices to Putnam County 
because you needed additional jurors~ A. We are always 
sending out notices-

Q. Did you, yes or no, for that reason 1 

Mr. Gordon: Let him answer that. 
1'Ir. Sacher : It is the second try at it. I think 

I am entitled to an answer. 
The Court: Do you think it is important, Mr. 

Sacher~ 
Mr. Sacher: Yes. I have another question to fol­

low up with. 
~Ir. Gordon: The witness started to say, "We 

are always sending out notices," ·when Mr. Sache~ 
interrupted him. 

The Court: I know. 
Mr. Sacher: What is your Honor's ruling on it? 

·The Court: Isn't it clear that they always de­
sired to get additional jurors~ What else could be 
the point of sending the notices out? 

Mr. Sacher: Why can't he answer it then, like 
an honest man would? 

The Witness: We started to send-
The Court: He is wondering that there might 

be something about it that does not meet the naked 
eye. 

Mr. Sacher: There probably is, but that is 
( 3870) no business of his. 

The Court: Well, rnaybe so, but you ask why 
he is hesitating. I have a little experience. I am 
watching and listening here, and I do not think it 
impairs a person's credibility when he begins to 
think a little bit before answering the question, par­
ticularly one that seems so obvious as that one; he 
wonders whether or not there isn't something the 
matter with it. 

Mr. McGohey: Official, perhaps. 
The Court: So let us take it that he said that 

he was trying to get more jurors. Now, go on with 
that next question that is going to be so good. 

Mr. Sacer: Your Honor's sarcasm apparently 
reached the reporter of the World-Telegram. I 
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recognize his raspy gurgle there. 
Mr. Gordon: May that be stricken out, your 

Honor f I object to further examination of this 
kind by counsel, and if that is as much as the cross­
examination is going to consist of, I would like to go 
back to redirect. 

Mr. Sacher: No, that isn't all. 
The Court: I sustain the objection. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Had you sent any notices to Putnam County prior 
to the month of May 1947, as appears from page 4 of Ex­
hibit 179 ~ A. Had we sent any notices 1 

(3871) Q. Yes. Did you before May 1947 ever send 
any notices whatever to Putnarn County1 A. Back in 
1940 the Directory of Directors had names from all those 
outlying counties. 

Q. I didn't ask you that. I asked-

Mr. Gordon: I subn1it that he has answered 
that. 

The Court: Yes, I think he has answered it. 
Ask another question. I am getting the impression 
now that just because this reference to Putnam 
County is here that you decided to play around with 
it for an hour or so-

Mr. Sacher: No. 
The Court: -and use up the time. I am not 

going to have it. 
Mr. Sacher: Let me put the question. 
I want to except, by the way, to being ordered 

to move from question to question. I want to ex­
plore this briefly, not for a length of time. 

The Court: If you think these cracks about the 
voice of a reporter that you seem to recognize are 
helping you here, you are making a big mistake. I 
consider that sort of thing frivolous and diverting 
and entirely inconsistent with the dignity of the 
court, and I am having a great difficulty in putting 
a stop to it. And I don't know bow it is, but you 
are perfectly incorrigible. You have (3872) such 
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a sense of your own importance and your own con­
ceit that nothing will put you down. 

Mr. Sacher: I think that is absolutely unwar­
ranted. 

The Court: Well, it may seem so to you, but I 
am going to put a stop to that sort of thing-wise­
cracks, flippant remarks, that sort of business all 
day long, I won't have it. It may seem funny to you, 
but I do not consider this a place for that sort of 
thing. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Now, Mr. McKenzie, if you needed additional jurors 
in the month of :May 1947 why didn't you select names of 
residents of Westchester County who lived closer to. the 
Southern District of New York than those in Putnam 
County1 . 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. Immaterial. 
The Court : Overruled . 

.A.. Why did I not .select-will you repeat that again~ 

The Court : He says you took some from Put­
nam County. Why didn't you take them from West­
chester County 1 

.A.. We were trying out these new Telephone Directories­
there and that is what accounts for sending them to Put­
nam. 

Q. Where did you get the names of potential jurors 
from Westchester County which are mentioned on page 19 
of Exhibit 179¥ A. Pardon me' 

(3873) Q. From what source did you obtain the names 7 
A. From the Telephone Directory of that outlying county 
there. 

Q. Is the same true of the five which appear at page 
19 of Exhibit 179 for Rockland County~ A. That is true. 

Q. Now you made no mention, did you, in your affidavit 
of October 6th, Exhibit 227, of your selection of names of 
the residents of Putnam County in May 194 7 from the 
Telephone book, did you~ .A. No, I did not. 
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Q. Now at page 3458 of the transcript his Honor said 
the following to you: 

''Let me ask you a question: You seem to have 
said that in this period between some time in 1945 
to 1947 you used one book of registered voters for 
one ,single Assembly District in Manhattan and an­
other one book for one sjngle Assembly District in 
the Bronx. Did you mean to say that 1" 

Do you recall that1 A. Yes. 
Q. And did you make the following reply: 

"The Witness : Yes, your Honor, I did." 

A. Yes . 
. Q. Do you recall that? A. I do. 
. Q. Now do you also recall that you testified in sub­

stance that you had no present recollection of where 
(3874) that Manhattan Assembly District lay except, my 
recollection is, that you .said it was on the west side of 
Manhattan; is that right 1 A. That is true. 

Q. Now did you draw the names of potential jurors for 
the Borough of Manhattan in this two-year period, 1945 to 
'47, from any source other than the voters registry list of 
that one assembly district f A. That is all, to my knowl­
edge. 

Q. The registry list for that district was the only source 
for Manhattan jurors during that two-year period? A. To 
my knowledge, that is correct. 

Q. Do you have that registry list? A. No, I have not. 
. Q. Do you still have the qualifying questionnaires of 

the persons in that Assembly District who responded to 
notices which you sent to them during that period 1945 
to 1947? A. Yes, we have the questionnaires. 

Q. And is it correct to say-

The Court: You mean, in with all the other ques­
tionnaires T 

The Witness: With all the others, they are all 
together as of that particular time. 

Q. You have these questionnaires segregated by periods 
of time, do you not 1 A. As to the day and month and year, 
that is right. 

LoneDissent.org



1941 

Joseph F. McKenzie-for Government on Challenge-Cross 

Q. S'o those for 1947 would be in one group, 1946 in 
(3875) another group, 1945 in another group; is that 
right 1 A. That is true. 

Q. And so if you desired to ascertain the Assembly Dis­
trict in question you could ascertain that by examining 
these questionnaires for their addresses which would indi­
cate the Assembly District within which they fall, is that 
rightf 

Mr. Gordon: I object to that, your Honor. 
Mr. Sacher: I think it is a truism. 
Mr. Gordon: The address doesn't tell the As­

sembly DiF:ltrict. 
Mr. Sacher : No, but you could then take a map. 
The Court: There might be a number of other 

factors, I don't know. But the question is-I will 
allow the question as to whether he could tell. Maybe 
he would say yes and maybe he would say no, I don't 
know. 

Could you tell by looking at those questionnaires 
what was the district referred to in that book that 
is no longer in existence, that registry-

The Witness: I don't know just what the pic­
ture might be in there, your Honor; there could be 
volunteers of a certain day, along with notices sent 
out; it would be a combination of anything. 

The Court: So you say you couldn't tell f 
The Witness: That is true enough, I wouldn't 

( 3876) definitely know just what certain day. 

Q. Tell me, what happened to that registry list 7 A. 
The registry voting list, when the new list came in that was 
disposed of, thrown out. 

Q. Thrown outf A. That is true. 

Mr. Sacher: Would your Honor indulge me for 
just a moment, please? 

The Court : Certainly. 

Q. Now you testified at page 3453 of the transcript as 
follows: 
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'''Q. From what other sources in addition to the regis­
tered voters list and this telephone book did you receive 
names1 A. We received names from the Federal Grand 
Jury Association of the Southern District of New York." 

Do you recall that testimony? 
A. As to what date did we receive those names~ 

Q. I think that refers to 1940 to 1942, I believe. Yes, 
at page 3450, at the bottom of the page, it is indicated that 
the period referred to is 1940. A. That is correct. 

Q. Then you were asked the question: 
'' Q. From whom else 1 '' Do you recall that 1 

A. Yes, I do. 
Q. And do you recall making the following answer: 

( 3877) ''A. We also secured names from the Engineers 
Directory; from Poor's Directory of Directors; and from 
the various alumni, college graduation classes.'' 

Do you recall making that answer 1 
A. Yes, I do. 

Q. Then two questions below that you were asked: 

''Now, did you receive any names from the jury com­
missioner?'' 

And do you recall making the answer, "We did''1 
A. Yes. 

Q. And then you testified-

The Court: Now, before you pass on there­
Mr. Sacher: What is that your, Honor? 
The Court: I say, before you pass on there: 
Now, you said in that answer that was read a 

moment ago, from Poor's Directory of Directors. 
The Witness: That was back in 1940. 
The Court : Well, then, your testimony about not 

knowing what Directory of Directors, you are refer­
ring to the later period when you sent these people 
out¥ 

The Witness: 1947, that is true. 
The Court : So back in 1940 you did see this 

Poor's-
The .Witness: I didn't see it; I sent the man 

from the office, a Mr. Tanner, and he went up and 
compiled the names the same as these two girls, 
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and this man has ( (3878) had occasion to compile 
from the 1947. 

The Court: Did you know it was Poor's Direc­
tory and not some other book or Directory 1 

The Witness: At that time the name came in it, 
yes, your Honor. 

The Court: All right, Mr. Sacher. 
I might inquire, is there something special about 

this Poor's Directory~ There has been so much talk 
about it I wonder if there is some point that you 
might advise me of because I am a little puzzled 
about it. Is there something about it that is differ­
ent from the others 1 

(3879) 1fr. Sacher: Well, it is a registry of cor­
poration directors. 

The Court : And the other directories of direc­
tor,s are the same thing, aren't they 1 

Mr. Sacher: I don't know. I have not consulted 
them. 

The Court: It seems to me it is just throwing 
dust in the air. I follow these things so intently, and 
I think there is going to be some point, and then it 
winds up in nothing. I have been trying to ascer­
tain and wondering what you have been getting at 
about this Poor's Directory of Directors. There has 
been so much talk about it, and now you say you 
don't know yourself. 

Mr. Sacher: I didn't say that. 
The Court: Oh well. Then I suppose it is the 

old story. When I seek enlightenment counsel re­
fuse to answer. 

Mr. Sacher: No. I said I don't know the other 
directories. I am familiar with this one. 

The Court: Well, when you keep asking wit­
nesses questions, naturally the Court supposes you 
are getting at something. Now, if there is some 
point about this Poor's Directory-

Mr. Sacher: Yes. 
The Court: -what is the point then 1 
(3880) Mr. Bacher: The point is that it in­

cludes the names of the rich, the propertied and the 
well-to-do. That is the point. 
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The Court: Then it would not make any differ­
ence whether it was Poor's Directory or .some other 
directory of directors. 

Mr. Sacher: I think your Honor is quite right 
about that. I haven't made any fuss about that. 

The Court: Well, there was no need to just 
spread confusion by spending such time as has been 
spent here on that particular thing. The minute I 
heard you ask that question I said to myself, "Ah, 
there is that Poor's Directory; there must be some­
thing in there; maybe the witness has been saying 
something about it that is not so,'' and you just led 
me astray that way. 

Mr. Sacher: May I continue, if your Honor 
please1 

Mr. Gordon: May I hand your Honor this Ex­
hibit 182 that was supplied defense counsel yester­
day which shows that there was 1699 names from 
that source, the Directory of Directors, as compared 
with the grand total of 25,319. So I think that repe­
titious questioning-

Mr. Sacher: But I am not on that. I wanted to 
pass on. I am not dwelling at this time on that. 

The Court: That was my fault. I had my mind 
on this Poor's Directory. I thought there was some 
(3881) point about that. 

Mr. Sacher: No, I was going into something 
else. 

The Court: Now I .see there is not. 
Mr. Sacher: I just read it so the witness would 

have the benefit of the context. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Now, at page 3453 do you remember being asked the 
question: 

'' Q. Now, did you receive any names from the jury 
commissioner 1'' and did you make the answer ''We did'' 1 

Do you recall that? A.. Yes. 
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Q. And then do you recall being asked: 

'' Q. Who was that~ '' and did you make the answer 
"At that time it was Judge Smythe, Neil Smythe"~ 

A. Cornelius J. Smythe. 
Q. No, but look at the record. You notice it says 

"Neil.'' You said Neil. A. Neil Smythe. 

The Court: It was Neil Smythe. 

Q. Now I show you Exhibit 180 and ask you what the 
notation '' NS List'' means on page 5 of Exhibit 180. 

Mr. Gordon: Now, your Honor, I think­
Mr. Sacher: Can't we have an answer? 
Mr. Gordon: May I make an objection without 

constantly having you interrupt me~ 
Mr. Sacher : I did not stop you from making an 

( 3882) objection. 
The Court: Now, Mr. Gordon-
Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, I apologize, your 

Honor-it seemed the only way to make myself 
heard. 

The Court: That is all right. 
Mr. Gordon: I think that we are back again on a 

book which the witness said was kept by somebody 
else while he was out of the office, and I think I ob­
jected to it five or six times yesterday on that 
ground, and I make the same objection. It seems 
that counsel is forgetting your Honor's ruling. 

The Court: Perhaps Mr. Sacher did not notice 
those dates. 

Is that the fact, Mr. McKenzie? 
The Witness: That is correct, your Honor. 
The Court: So you don't know about that? 
The Witness: That is true. 
The Court: Objection sustained. 

Q. Did you ever see a list marked '' NS List'' in your 
files? A. No, I did not. 

Mr. Gordon: I think the record will show, your 
Honor, that Judge Smythe was not the jury commis-
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sioner at the time that that record was made in that 
book. 

Mr. Sacher: Are you sure of that 1 
Mr. Gordon: Yes. 
( 3883) Mr. Sacher : When did he stop being 

jury commissioner 1 I mean, I am asking for light; I 
don't know. 

Mr. Gordon: You just want some facts? 
Mr. Sacher: Yes, tell us the facts. 
1\1r. Gordon: 1fy recollection, your Honor, is 

that on February 11, 1941, Mr. J. Donald Duncan 
was appointed comn1issioner of jurors. 

Mr. Sacher: \Veil, that vvould not negate the 
fact that there was a Neil Srnythe list. 

Mr. Gordon: No. I am just­
Mr. Sacher: OK. 

Q. Now, Mr. l\fcKenzie, when a potential grand juror 
is interviewed by you do you 1nake any inquiry in regard 
to property qualification~ A. It is all on the application. 

Q. And do you determine on the basis of what is con­
tained in the quetstionnaire-that is \vhat you mean by 
application, is that right~ A. That is correct. 

Q. -do you determine on the basis of the contents of 
the questionnaire as to whether the given juror is qualified 
or not within the meaning of the la\v ~ Do you make that 
determination, in other words~ A. I would say it is a com­
bination of the questionnaire and the conversation or the 
talk with the juror at the time. 

Q. But you are the one who makes the determination 
on the baslli of those two factors, is that right~ (3884) A. 
If I am the one who interviews the juror when he presents 
the qualification notice, yes. 

Q. I mean, you are the one who decides whether he is 
eligible or not, is that right 1 A. Eligible for jury duty, 
whether it be petit or grand. 

The Court: If he exan1ines him. 
The Witness : If I examine him. 
Mr. Sacher: Precisely. 
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Q. And if you examine him you 1nark "Eligible," is 
that right~ A. I mark ''Eligible'' and then petit or grand 
jury. 

Q. Now will you tell the Court what property qualifica­
tions are required by you of grand jurors-that :U.s, those 
who are to be designated for the grand jury-of residents 
of Westchester County~ Can you tell the Court 1 A. vVell, 
som·e years ago I recall back in-I don't know just the 
exact date-a resident of Westchester County in order to 
serve on the grand jury had to own real property-either 
the juror or his wife had to be the owner of real property 
in W eJStchester County in order to serve on the grand jury. 
But that only applied to grand jurors of \Vestchester Coun­
ty. 

The Court: Did you-
The Witness: That was the statute of West­

chester County that we were governed by. 

( 3885) Q. Were you familiar with any requirement 
that a grand juror had to be on the assessment rolls of the 
town or ward in which he resided in countietS outside of 
New York? A. Well, that was covered in the answer I 
just made. Either the juror or his Vi'ife. Either one. 

Mr. Gordon: I don't find such a section in the 
law, your IIonor-perhaps Mr. Sacher can help me­
which would be different than the requirement that 
the juror own real property. I assume if he owned 
real property he would be on the assessment roll. 

(Recess to 2.30 p. m.) 

AFTERNOON SESSION 

JOSEPH F. McKENZIE, resumed the stand. 

The Court: * * *. 
Did somebody locate that Westchester statute 1 
Mr. Sacher: Yes, your Honor. 
Would you be good enough to look at Sections 

229 (a) and (b) of the Code of Criminal Procedure 
of the (3886) State of New York? 

LoneDissent.org



1948 

Colloquy of Court and Counsel 

The Court: Is the compliance or non-compliance 
with this provision applicable to Westchester, 
charged in the challenge here~ 

Mr. Gladstein: The challenge charge~ broadly, 
your Honor, a violation of the statutes pertaining 
to the selection of jurors, including grand and petit 
jurors, and specifically including the grand jury 
that returned the indictment, sir. 

The Court: You interpret it as affecting this 
particular matter too~ 

1\fr. Gladstein: It covers it, yes. 
The Court: Will you show me the specific refer­

ence to this~ I do not think the general clauses 
would suffice. 

]\1r. Gladstein: If an an1endment to the general 
charge is r·equired we will ask leave to file such in 
accordance with the proof and for the purpose of 
conforming to the proof. 

The Court : No, I do not think I am disposed to 
expand these charges any. 

Mr. Gladstein: Your _Honor wishes that portion 
of the challenge that refers to this subject~ 

The Court: Yes. If there is any reference to 
this I will allow it. If there is none I will not. 

(3887) Mr. Gordon: \Vhat were those sections, 
your Honor~ 

The Court: 229 (a) and 229 (b) of the Code of 
Criminal Procedure of the State of New York. It 
evidently has something to do with special considera­
tions applicable to Westchester County, as I am 
told. I have not had .any opportunity to study the 
sections. I had not understood that that was in­
volved in the case at all. 

Mr. Sacher: May it in the meantime be noted 
for the record that the defendants Thompson and 
Winston are absent this afternoon~ 

The Court: Yes. 
]llr. Sacher: And the usual stipulation. 
The Court: Yes, if that is agreeable to every­

body, yes. 
Mr. Sacher: The two defendants I have just 

mentioned are absent in addition to the two who w€re 
mentioned this morning, your Honor. 
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The Court: Very well. 
~Ir. Sacher: May it please the Court, there is 

no specific reference to the sections of the Code of 
Criminal Procedure that have just been handed up 
to your Honor in the challenge as filed. vVe would 
therefore like an opportunity, in view of the 1serious 
questions which are raised by these sections, to 
apply to your Honor, either (3888) now or at 
some time agreeable to-

The Court: What are the serious questions T 
It seems to n1e they have to do, as I listened th~ 
morning, to property qualifications and whether 
persons in Westchester or their wives were on the 
assessnwnt rolls or owned real property, and things 
of that kind, and I notice in your challenge refer­
ences to numerous specific statutory provisions that 
are allegerl to have been infringed, and if there is 
nothing about this in there I do not see why I 
should allow it. 

Mr. Sacher: Except that we want to move to 
amend the challenge to include among the groundB 
urged in support of the challenge the- failure of 
compliance on the part of grand jurors who were 
members of the grand jury which . indicted these 
defendants to comply with the requirements of Sec­
tions 229(a) and (b). 

The Court : Taking everything into considera­
tion, I deny the motion. 

Mr. Sacher: May I then at this time, your Honor, 
make an offer of proof in regard to the matters 
which would come under those sections 1 

The Court: Yes, you may. 
Mr. Sacher: The offer is that if thm witness 

were permitted to be questioned and to answer it 
would be (3889) proved that a number of the 
grand jurors who sat on the grand jury which in­
dicted these defendants did not possess the qualifica­
tions to act as grand jurors as l3peci:fied in Sec­
tions 229(a) and (b) of the New York State Code 
of Criminal Procedure. 

It would also be proved that if those jurors who 
sat on the grand jury which indicted these defend-
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ants and who would be disqualified from acting if 
our interpretation of the two sections referred to 
is correct, that there would not then be a ~Sufficient 
number of grand jurors to vote an indictment in 
accordance with the provisions of the Judiciary 
Code. 

The Court: Let me just glance over my notes 
here for a minute. 

( 3890) Very well. You may proooed. 
Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, do I understand the 

state of the record to be that if the witness were 
allowed to so testify that that is what he would 
testify to~ 

The Court: V'l ell, Mr. Sacher's offer went be­
yond that, but I felt it unnece1ssary, in view of the 
fact that 17 or n1ore of the grand jurors have testified 
and no body asked then1 questions under these sec­
tions, and I had better let the matter rest. His 
offer of proof went beyond what this witness might 
testify to, but I am not going to allow any amend­
ment. 

Cross examination continued by Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Now at page 3454 of the record, Mr. ~{cKenzie, you 
were asked this question, were you not: 

'' Q. And did you receive any names from any other 
sources that you can think of at this time~" 

Do you recall being asked that question 1 A. As to 
what date~ Is that back in the 1940 period or does that 
take in 19-

Q. Yes, in the 1940 period. And did you n1ake the 
following answer : 

''A. We received name~S from judges of the courts and 
individual recommendations.'' 

Did you make that answer~ (3891) A. Yes, that is 
correct. 

Q. Do you re1nember ·what judges made recommenda­
tions~ A. Judge Knox sent me down a list of colored 
persons at one time, and other judges that had occasion 
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to have names sent to them; an individual wrote a letter 
to a judge and it would state that he would like to ~erve 
on the jury and what would be the procedure, or he heard 
some thin 0' about jury service. And the judge would take 
the lette; and send an additional letter-attach a letter 
to it and send it down to the office and ask if this person 
could be sent for to come in and qualify. 

Mr. Sacher: May I have Exhibits 159, 160, 162, 
163 and 226, please 1 

Q. I show you, Mr. McKenzie, Exhibits 159, 160, 162, 
163 and 226, each of which have the word "Colored" on 
them and ask you whether you recognize any of these lh3ts 
as a list which Judge Knox handed in 1 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, this is perhaps not 
repetitious on its face, but since these lists have 
been testified about and some of them have the 
Federal Grand Jury 1atamp on them, I object to going 
back and going over and over. 

The Court: Well, they seem to have made a 
special charge of corruption against Judge Knox 
here, and I think I will receive whatever they may 
offer on the (3892) point. 

The 'Vitness: What is the question~ Now, will 
you repeat the question 1 vVhat is the question f 

The Court: Whether you recognize any of those 
as being the list that you got from Judge Knox that 
you testified about a mom·ent ago. 

The Witness: No, they are not, your Honor. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. You mean then, that there was a list marked 
"Colored List" which is not among the exhibits just now 
handed to you, which Judge Knox handed in; is that it f 
A. I know Judge Knox handed me a pi·ece of paper with 
several names on and, I don't know how many names on, 
and at the time he told me that a colored person who had 
worked for him gave him these names as proopective jurors 
and would like to serve on the jury, and he asked me would 
I send for them. · 
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The Court: Did the paper have on it the word 
''Colored''~ 

The Witnes~B: Not on the paper he gave me. 
The Court: That was included in Mr. Sacher's 

question. 
The Witness: Not on the paper that Judge Knox 

gave me, it didn't. 

Q. I think your testimony yesterday in response to some 
(3893) questions which Mr. Crockett asked you was that 
the t5econd page of Exhibit 159 had been handed to you 
or to your office, rather, and that the first page of that 
exhibit had been typed up in your office; is that correctf 
A. That is correct. 

Q. Now will you look at the second page of Exhibit 
159 and tell 1ne whether that looks like the list which 
Judge Knox gave you? A. No, it does not. 

Q. It does not. How many names were there on the 
list that Judge Knox gave you 1 A. About eight or ten. 

Q. And how many years ago was that~ A. I believe it 
was back around 1941 or son1e tin1-e in that period. 

Q. Did you send qualifying noticelS, too, or question­
naires, too f A. They were given to my assistant, Mr. Tan­
ner, who proceeded, who sent out for them, I should say, 
or handled it. 

Q. Was that list that you received from Judge Knox 
given some kind of a designation or name or symbol of 
any kind to indicate that it came from Judge Knoxi A. 
I don't know if J\ir. Tanner wrote on the card there with 
the recommendation fron1 Judge Knox or what he may have 
done. At the time I made no notation on it. 

Mr. Sacher: May I have Exhibits 179 and 180, 
pleasef 

Q. Were there any other judge1s who made recommenda­
tions ( 3894) of names for potential jurors in this court t 
A. On individual letters, which I have already stated. The 
letter was-

Q. What judge made such r·ecomn1enda tions f A. I be­
lieve there is a letter in the correspondence from Judge 
Frank. 
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Q. Did you receive any recommendations in regard to 
jurors from any other official connected with this court T 
A. If a letter was LSent to any official pertaining to jury 
service, it would have been the policy to attach a letter 
and send it to the jury office and state that the enclosed 
l-etter was received by them and it was self-explanatory. 

Q. Did you ever receive such a letter from the United 
States .Attorney of this district 1 A. I believe I did, or 
the clerk of the court did and turned it over to me. 

Mr. McGohey: If the Court please, if the ques­
tion is directed to mscertain ·whether or not the 
present United States Attorney did, the United 
States Attorney will represent to the Court on the 
record that in four years, probably three, certainly 
not more than four times 1nembers of the bar of 
this district and of this court ·whom I know have 
written in letters giving the names of persons whom 
they knew and whom they 1-3aid would like to be 
considered for jury service, som·etimes on the grand 
(389?) jury and sometin1es just generally for jury 
service. 

Whenever that occurred I took the letter and 
forwarded it to the clerk with a note stating, as was 
the fact in each case, that I was not at all acquainted 
with the person who was ~Seeking to be.come a juror 
but that I was acquainted with the member of the 
bar who sent the name to me, and stating that I 
believed the member of the bar to be such a person 
that I would take his recommendations. 

What was done with those thereafter, whether 
those persons ever got on the jury list, whether if 
they got on the jury lll.st they were ever called for 
jury service, I have no knowledge and I have never 
made inquiry. 

Q. Now Mr. McKenzie, I show you Exhibit 179 and 
invite your attention to page 6 of that exhibit. Does that 
exhibit indicate the selection of names of potential jurors 
from the Directory of Directors? A. It does. 

Q. And what month and what year is that page that 
I have opened to referrable to? A. October 1947. 
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Q. And can you tell the Court· ho·w many qualifying 
notices or jury notices were sent to directors, according to 
the page which I have showed you~ A. There was a hun­
dred-

Q. You don't have to cl etail them. J ms t give us the 
(3896) totals. A. 800 in ten days. 

Q. Eight hundred and ten~ A. Ten days. 800 was 
mailed out over a period of ten days. 

Q. Isn't your addition wrong, Mr. McKenzie~ A. Well, 
there is 219 down there. I am sorry. 800 and 219. 

The Court: What~ 
The Witness: 219 additional on the bottom, 

your Honor. 

Q. That is 1,019 ~ A. That is 1,019. 
Q. Sent out in October 1947, is that right~ A. That 

is correct. 
Q. How many were sent to other pensons that month 1 

A. In that same month 200 were sent to the 13th Bronx, 
13th Assembly District in the Bronx. 

Q. Will you be good enough to tell the Court what per­
centage of the 1219 jurors on that page qualified as jurors 1 

The Court: Doesn't that all appear in the ex­
hibit1 

Mr. Sacher: I think it does. I just thought it 
would help the record along. 

A. 16 per cent. 
Q. Will you look on page 7 of the same exhibit and tell 

me whether that shows any mailings to any persons 
(3896-A) in the Directory of Directors? 

The Court: I am not going to permit any more 
cross-examination along this line, Mr. Sacher. Every 
word of that is right in the book for me to see, and 
you can refer to it in any memorandum you desire 
to submit. 

(3897) Q. Now, Mr. McKenzie, you testified, did you 
not, that registry lists from the County of Westchester 
would cost you something like 25 cents or 45 cents each, is 
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that right~ A. I believe that is the figure. I am not cer­
tain as to the figure. 

Q. And I think your testimony was, was it not, that in 
all the years that you have been in the jury clerk's office, 
which covers the period from 1937 to the present time, save 
for the nine-month period when you were in the armed 
forces, there never was an adequate appropriation to per­
mit the purchase of a single registry list from a single As­
sembly District in .Westchester County, is that right~ A.. 
It is not only that. There was the difficulty also in se­
curing them from the Board of Elections. We have letters 
on :file whir.h show that we asked them to sell us-

Q. And they said they would not sell them to you 7 
A. They never even answered the letter. 

Q. When was the last letter you sent there, Mr. Mc­
Kenzie 1 A. I believe in 1942, there is a letter in the file. 

Q. Have you written at any time in the last seven 
years to the Board of Elections in Westchester 1 A. No, I 
have not. 

Mr. Sacher: That is all; that is, for me. 
(3898) The Court: Well, you and Mr. Crockett 

have examined now. Do you mean to say that all the 
lawyers are going to cross examine this witness 1 

Mr. Sacher: On things that have not been cov-
ered by those who preceded. 

The Court: Well, I will permit it within reason-
able grounds. That is all right. _ 

Mr. McCabe: If your Honor please, I have 
scratched off a good bit of the notations that I have 
made-

The Court: If you don't repeat it is all right. 

By Mr. McCabe: 

Q. Mr. McKenzie, in your testimony yesterday you 
mentioned about page 3598 that the expression ''de­
ferred'' on a qualification sheet was a mild way of saying 
''rejected.'' Do you recall that 1 A. I do. 

Q. What did you mean by that? 

Mr. Gordon: This is objected to, your Honor, as 
cross examination on cross examination. Therefore 
it is repetitious. This was gone into. 
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The Court: It does seem .so. I will sustain the 
objection. 

Q. Mr. McKenzie, what was your procedure if a pros­
pective juror appeared at your office in response to a 
notice sent to him, and having filled his questionnaire and 
having shown on that that he had the qualifications (3899) 
for a juror, as set forth in the questionnaire-that is, as 
to citizenship, age, property qualification, and the other 
formal qualifications, and yet you decided from your ob­
servation of the man that he would not make an acceptable 
juror~ What was your procedure? A. In other words, if 
I accepted the man or I rejected the man 1 

Q. If you rejected the man, if you decided that although 
he had the qualifications required for a juror, yet for some 
other reason he was not, let us say, the type that you be­
lieved acceptable for a juror~ 

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Was there ever an occasion, Mr. McKenzie, when a 
person appeared-

The Court: I think what you mean to say, Mr. 
McCabe, is that if there were some things relative to 
his qualifications that did not appear on the written 
questionnaire, did he do thus and so~ 

Mr. McCabe: Yes. 
The Court: Well, you see, the way you put it 

it looked as though you said after he found him 
fully qualified and he rejected him, why did he re­
ject him~ And he never said he did that. 

Mr. McCabe: No. 
(3900) The Court: So what you mean is that 

if he observed something that was not apparent on 
the face of the written questionnaire, how did he 
proceed to exercise his discretion as to whether he 
would take the man or not take him; isn't that it' 

Mr. McCabe: The question was directed to 
what did he do. I was not inquiring into his mental 
processes as to why he rejected the man, but what 
reply he gave to the man, what he did with the quali­
:fication or with the questionnaire. 
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The Witness: Well, prior to a certain date I 
would write "Rejected'' on the application. 

Q. And would you tell the man that he was rejected? 
A. No, not necessarily-no, I didn't say to him that "You 
are rejected." No. 

Q. Was that what you h~d in mind whe1_1 you sa~d some­
times ''deferred'' was a mild way of say1ng '''reJected'' f 

The Court: I sustain an objection to that, Mr. 
l\1cCabe. 

Mr. McCabe: I thought perhaps the other ques­
tion had requalified. 

The Court: I think not. 

Q. Now you say on some occasions you wrote "Re­
jected.'' What would you do on other occasions when you 
did not write "R.ejected"~ A. Well, after that question 
came up about ( 3901) putting "Rejected" on there, Mr. 
Follmer also mentioned that "Deferred" would be a better 
term to use; so after a certain date you will find "De­
ferred'' on any number of the applications. 

Q. You said after that came up about writing "Re­
jected." When did it come up~ A. I believe some time in 
1940. 

Q. And what was the occasion for its coming up? Was 
there any incident~ 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, I object to any fur­
ther questions along this line. I do not see the rele­
vancy of it. 

The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Isserman: May I say a word on that, your 

Honor? 
The Court : Yes. 
Mr. Isserman: This is cross examination on a 

matter which deals with the witness's use of the 
wor.d "deferre?'' in a method quite contrary to the 
ordinary meaning of that word and quite contrary to 
the way the use of that word is described in the Tol­
man memorandum, which is before the Court· and 
cross examination here is designed to elicit pre~isely 
how and why this word was used and to indicate that 
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its use was not as now stated by the witness, but as 
stated in that report, and that (3902) it was used 
when persons were fully qualified, but nevertheless 
not put on the active list because of the type of em­
ployment that person was engaged in or because for 
some reason not connected with the qualifications 
which led the clerk to put on the designation '·'De­
ferred" and to put that card in the inactive file. 

The Court: It is a singularly circuitous way of 
getting that fact-

Mr. Isserman: Well, it is a question of probing 
the credibility of the witness on the subject; it is a 
question of probing his understanding of the strange 
use of a word which, in its ordinary sense, suggests 
qualification and postponement of use. 

The Court: I .sustain the objection. 
Mr. Gordon: Your Honor has the Tolman Re­

port before you, I take it 1 
Tiie Court: Yes, I have. I have it right here. 
Mr. Gordon: I do not think it supports some of 

the extravagant claims. 
The Court: Well, it probably does not, but I am 

not going-
Mr. Isserman: I suggest Mr. Gordon read the 

paragraph which he says does not support the state­
ment I have made. 

The Court: I am not interested in that at the 
(3903) moment. I find this cross examination now 
is getting very prolonged. I will try to give every 
conceivable and reasonable opportunity to bring out 
anything that may bear on the selection of jurors, but 
you know, you can take any kind of an inquiry and 
get into ·such minutiae that you never finish; and I 
am beginning to see a certain resemblance to what 
I have seen before here. But go ahead. 

Mr. McCabe: That is not directed at me, your 
Honor~ I have been on my feet about a minute and 
a half I think. 

The Court: Oh yes, I am not saying that you 
have done anything about this cross examination, nor 
do I think that you asked that question for purposes 
of delay, but I must necessarily be cognizant of the 
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passage of time here ; so just drop the ''deferred'' 
and get on to something more important. 

By Mr. McCabe: 

Q. Mr. McKenzie, you testified yesterday-and I be­
lieve it was about page 3476-that there was a drawer con­
taining cards listed "Ready for the wheel''; is that cor­
rectT A. That is correct. 

Q. Now I would like to bring out just the process by 
which cards traversed the-I believe it was three types of 
drawers that you had to get into the wheel. 

(3904) Mr. Gordon: Objected to as repetitious. 
I remember Mr. Gladstein asking something-Yr. 
Sacher I guess it was-~ir. Sacher took a piece of 
paper out of his pocket and read something, and 
1fr. Gladstein said, "Isn't there a drawer with so 
and so on itT" 

Mr. 11cCabe: Yes, but that was not pursued. I 
think you will see that in some way we got off the 
track, and in order to avoid going through the whole 
transit, if your Honor thinks that that is not neces­
sary, I would like to get down to the very point-

The Court: Now you have got the right idea. 
Mr. McCabe: -the very point where you have 

to have more cards for the wheel. 

Q. Now, you received an order for four or five hun­
dred jurors and you needed more cards for the wheel. Now, 
to which drawer do you go for the cards T A. In other 
words, there is a drawer marked "Ready for the wheel"­
there is a couple of drawers there marked ''Ready for the 
wheel''-

Mr. Gordon: Just a moment. The question as­
sumes a ·state of facts not in evidence. The testi­
mony is that the jury commissioner and the clerk go 
to the drawers for the cards, and they are the ones 
who do the drawing. 

· The Court: That is the testimony. 
Mr. Gordon: Now, it has been asked of this 

( ?905) witness as though he were the one who 
p1cked out the cards for the drawing. I object to it. 

LoneDissent.org



1960 

Joseph F. M cf( enzie-for Government on Challenge-Cross 

The Court: I think that is a fair observation. 
Have you seen this thing done­

The Witness: Yes-
The Court: -and it is right that it is these 

other people who do that, actually~ 
The Witness: The jury commissioner and the 

clerk, yes, they do that. 
The Court: And you are right there watching 

them a quantity of the time~ 
The Witness: Yes, I am in that room. 
The Court: Now you go on and tell us, now that 

we understand that you ·are not doing this your~ 
self but that the others do-tell us what yon ob~ 
served. 

The Witness: In other words, this drawer 
marked ''Ready for the wheel"-the cards that go 
into that drawer are the cards that had been taken 
out of the wheel at the last drawing, the jurors that 
had served, the cards from the jurors that had 
served two years ago, and the new jurors who had 
qualified for jury service from the last drawing to 
the present one, and from the jurors marked down 
"Future date'' which had been put over by the 
Court-

Q. And that date having arrived- A. Yes, they 
(3906) were put into the "Ready for the wheel" drawer. 

Q. Now, would the jury commissioner and the clerk se­
lect the cards from any particular portion of that '·'Ready 
for the wheel'' box, or din they take the first handful, did 
they take them one by one, or how would they do it1 A. 
When they go to that drawer I start in my business in the 
office. 

Q. The number of cards in that drawer varies, I sup .. 
pose? A. It does. 

Q. Any range that you could give us~ Would it be f!om 
a thousand to three thousand ·cards~ A. I am afraid I 
couldn't give a figure. 

Q. By the way, in Manhattan and the Bronx is there any 
distinction between the requirements for grand jurors or 
petit jurors 7 
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Mr. Gordon: That is objected to, your Honor. 
The Court: That is a matter of law. Is there a 

differenceY I do not know myself. I have been pro­
ceeding on the assumption that basically the qualifi­
cations were by statute the same. I don't know. 

Mr. Gordon: This section that was quoted to 
your Honor-

Mr. McCabe: That refers to Westchester 
County-

Mr. Gordon: -has very little application, if any, 
to jurors in this court, as far as I can see, (3907) 
execpt by reference to the Judiciary Law which pre­
scribes the qualifications for various jurors. 

The Court: Well, what does the law say which 
prescribes the qualifications for petit jurona 1 

1\ir. Gordon: The grand jurors have the same 
qualifications as the petit jurors, as I understand 
the law, except that in Section 598, under "Dis­
qualifications"- this is found on page 532 of the 
Judiciary Law-public officers and employees of 
the United States Gov,ernment and of State and 
other governments are prohibited from serving on 
a grand jury. Perhaps I could pass that section 
to you. 

The Court: That is all right. I have that. 
Well, I had supposed, although it may have been 

sheer inference without justification, that you had 
to be a little more careful about picking grand 
jurors than petit jurors becamse of the large re­
sponsibilities of that office. 

Is it contended by the defense here that you 
must just pick by chance from the residual batch of 
qualified jurors those to go into the grand jury? 

Mr. McCabe: Where the la-w makes no provi­
sion for a distinction, your Honor, I think it i~ a 
matter of inquiry as to where the distinction arises. 

The Court: \Veil, I say, is it the position (3908) 
of the defense here that it is absolutely unlawful 
for those selecting grand jurors to make any inquiry 
whatever to !Separate into petit jurors and grand 
jurors 1 Is that your contention? 

Mr. McCabe: I don't think we have to take a 
position on the law on that, your Honor. 
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The Court: No, but do you take it 1 You kno·w, 
every time I want enlightenment as to counsel's 
position I get this evasion. I don't see why you do 
it. I really don't, Mr. McCabe. Now, if you take 
that legal position, say you do; if you don't take it, 
say you don't take it. 

Mr. McCabe: I certainly do take the legal posi­
tion, your Honor. 

The Court: Now I understand then. Now I 
undenstand what you are getting at, that you claim 
that it is absolutely illegal for anybody selecting 
jurors to 1nake some differentiation between those 
who are to be in the pool of jurors for petit jury 
service generally and those who are to serve as 
grand jurors. 

Now, that is what you say, and now I am going 
to try to find out more about it. 

Mr. McGohey, can you give me your views on 
that rus to what the law provides, or custom, and 
we are now just talking law; we are not talking 
factual matters. 

And if you think the discussion would prevent 
(3909) your proper cross-examination of the wit­
ness, I will postpone it. 

Mr. McCabe: If any harm would be done, it 
has been done, your Honor, so I would be glad to 
hear the discussion. 

The Court: Surely the witness can't be so 
naive that he does not know there is a difference 
hetween a grand juror and a petit juror. We have 
been hearing about it here for several days. But if 
you think that some suggestion might reach him, 
or son1e harm come, why, I 'viii drop the subject 
and let you pursue your examination. 

Mr. McCabe: Far from it, your Honor. I would 
be very glad to have the enlightenment of Mr. Mc­
Gahey's comments because it might save time and 
further cros!.3-examination, and might just point up 
to me that the line I ·was pursuing was not worth 
pursuing. 
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The Court : Do you care to say anything on it, 
Mr. McGohey1 If you don't it is perfectly agree­
able with me. 

Mr. McGohey: I frankly don't know w~at the 
point is your Honor. As far as the statute 1s con­
cerned there seems to be no distinction in the statu­
tory qualifications between what the qualifications 
must be for a grand juror (3910) and a petit 
juror, except what J\fr. Gordon has just stated. 

The Court: Yes, I understand that about cer­
tain public officers. 

~fr. J\1cGohey: Your Honor mentioned the word 
''custom." N 01Y, I know that it has been the custom 
in New York over a long period of yearn for courts 
and jury commissioners to exercise some discretion 
as to the persons whom they s·elect for grand jury 
service, and the reason, it seems to me, is perfectly 
obviollli: when a petit jury is serving as a jury it 
is serving in a courtroom where it is hearing testi­
mony in an adversary proceeding, where each side 
is protected, first of all, by its counsel, and both 
sides are protected by the rulings of the Court 
as to what is going to be 1submitted and what is not 
going to be submitted. It is a matter of fact that 
everybody knows that when a grand jury is con­
vened it gets a charge by the court, and thereafter 
it retires to its proceedings and it gets such evi­
dence as is presented to it by the Dlistrict Attorney 
or by such witnesses as it desires itself to call and 
hear. And there are times, to be sure, when grand 
juries have sought to conw down to the courtroom 
and get irustruction, and they do get instruction. 
But generally speaking grand juries do not come 
down each time son1e question arises and get a rul­
ing, as (3911) happens \vhere you hav.e a trial. 
So that n1y experience in 25 years at the bar right 
in New York Countv is that in this district and in 
this county there has been some care exerchsed in 
the selection of grand jurors so that they would 
recognize t.hat what they are doing is not finding 
persons ~ullty of anything; that they are inquiring 
Into finding out whether there are facts sufficient 
to charge somebody with crime. 
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The Court: I had supposed that was 1so, and I 
noticed here in these various inquiries and other 
records frorn the clerk's office that occasionally 
there is a reference to "Eligible for grand jury" or 
something of that kind, or some notation of similar 
import; and I have gone up to this point on the 
as13umption that of course there was some process 
of exercise of discretion in the selection of who were 
to be eligible for grand jury service and who were 
to be eligible for petit jury service. 

So I think we had better proceed-
Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, I would 

like to be heard on this. 
~{r. ~fcGohey: ~fay I make one more statement, 

please~ 
The Court: Yes. 
Mr. ~fcGohey: If your Honor pleases, there iB 

another obvious factor, which is a fact, that grand 
(3912) juries sit every day, and they sit every day 
for the term for which they are called ; and some­
times a grand jury-indeed, as the grand jury that 
returned the indictment in this case-now just let 
us take that for a minute-

The Court: Yes. 
Mr. ~1cGohey: -that grand jury was impaneled 

1.5ome time in June 1947, and it sat many days during 
every month or nearly every month from then 
until last December. 

Now, there are people who can afford to give 
that much time to grand jury service and there are 
many others who can't. 

The Court: A.nd it was discharged then only be· 
cause it lapsed by operation of law? 

Mr. McGohey: Yes. 
The Court: Because the rule of the Supreme 

Court was that a grand jury became defunct after 
18 months of service. 

1\tir. McGahey: That is right, and that, of course, 
as your Honor recalltS was incorporated from the 
statutory provision which obtained prior to that 
time, and probably still does. .A grand jury may 
not remain in existence beyond 18 months. 
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The Court: All right. 
Mr. McGohey: But those are all factors that 

(3912-A) are taken into consideration. 
The Court: Mr. Isserrnan, did you wish to say 

something~ 
Mr. Lsserman: I think ~ir. Gladstein­
:Mr. Gladstein: I will defer to you. 
(3913) ~Ir. lsserman: The Court raised the 

question whether there was anything absolutely il­
legal about the exercise of so1ue discr·etion, if I 
can properly paraphrase what the Court said, in 
connection with the selection of grand jurors. 

The statute iJB silent on separate treatment of 
grand jurors. There is no provision in the statute 
for the maintenance of a grand jury list which in 
the Southern District approximated between 800 
and 2,000 names out of a population of millions. 
The question of how grand jurors were selected, 
absent any provisions in the ~Statute and abs·ent 
any provision for a separate grand jury list, is one 
which is properly before this Court and properly 
the subject of inquiry in the examination of the 
present witness. 

We say that in that selection of grand juroru 
th-ere has been exercised a systematic and deliberate 
exclusion of manual workers and Negroes, as set 
forth in our challenge, and of other groups, and an 
overloading, deliberate and persistent-

The Court: You don't have to repeat that part. 
Mr. IsJ.Serman: Yes; I am referring now to the 

allegations of our challenge. 
The Court : I know. 
Mr. Isserman: And we say there is a large area 

(3914) between the exercise of some discretion 
which may or may not be vested in the jury com­
missioner and clerk, and the exercise of a power 
which leads to the result to which we object. 

Now, the area is not charted by the statute, and 
we have a right to sho;w by this witness and by 
other witnesses what the method actually was, how 
the segregation of 1800 names was persisted in. 
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The Court: You don't need to go on, Mr. Is­
serman, becawe in the light of this discussion I 
am very clear as to what I shall rule, and I do it 
now to put an end to the 1natter. 

I rule that there is a discretion in the selection 
of grand jurors as distinct frorn petit jurors. I 
rule also that it is not legal to deliberately and 
wilfully discrilnina te by the exclusion fron1 grand 
jurors of particular group:s and persons. So that 
if whatever may be brought out here tends to estab­
lish such alleged wilful and deliberate discrimina­
tion I will take it; if it is designed to prove to me 
that there ought to be no discretion in the selection 
I will not take it because it seerns to n1e perfectly 
obvious as an hiJStorical fact, developed by the 
statutory pattern, that there must be some discre­
tion in the selection of grand jurors as distinct from 
the petit jurors, and I don't think that matter is 
open ( 3915) to argument. If I am wrong, why, 
then that can easily be corrected, but that is what 
it is going to be ruB to my ruling. 

Now you may proceed, Mr. McCabe. 
Mr. McCabe: My point was, since the Congress 

has not made the distinction, I just wondered where 
Mr. McKenzie acquired the criterion which would 
guide him in making the selection. 

The Court: Yes, you may ask him how he went 
about the exercise of the discretion, and frankly I 
was a little surpri1sed that you didn't pursue the 
question that I thought you had asked earlier as 
to how, when he decided to accept or reject some­
one for grounds that did not appear in the writ­
ten questionnaire, how he proceeded about that, 
but the minute I formulated it in that way you 
dropped it. I would be interested to know about 
that, and also how he went about the selection of 
a grand juror as distinct from another person. But 
you do just what you choose; you are cross-exam­
ining. 

Mr. McCabe: It is so rare that one is criticized 
for not pursuing a line, it is appreciated. 
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The Court : Well, you kno·w, this is a peculiar 
case; you go round and round and round Robin 
Hood's barn, and now is the chance to look in 
and see what is in there. And I do hope that you 
get right after it, and if there (3916) is something 
about the way he exercuses this discretion let us 
see what it is, and if it is wrong, it is wrong, and if 
it is right, it is right, but get down to it instead of 
going round and round. 

Mr. ::McCabe: You mean which side of the barn 
the sheep are in and which side the lambs. 

~{aybe we can get at it in another way, your 
Honor, and I will be very brief about this because 
I know that as soon alS your Honor hears Poor's 
Directory of Directors mentioned your Honor will 
perhaps naturally feel that that subject has been 
exhausted. But there are a couple of things that 
I would like to know about that, and that goes to a 
matter of procedure. 

By Mr. McCabe: 

Q. Mr. McKenzie, I presun1e there came a time in your 
administration of your office when you found yourself at 
a point where you desired to send out some more qualifica­
tion notices, and I would like to direct your attention to, 
say, the time when you sent ~Hss Fitton-was it-and her 
companion up to the repository or the library where this 
Directory of Directors was resting~ 

Mr. Gordon: ~{r. McCabe's prognostication is 
correct-that is objected to as repetitiouJ3. 

The Court : When he gets to the question he may 
digress and ask hin1 whether he has got a list of 
colored ( 3917) jurors in his pocket. So let him 
finish the question. 

Mr. Gordon : Excuse me. 

Q. .Are you able to direct your n1ind to such a time, 
Mr. McKenzie~ A. Will you repeat the que13tion. 

(Record read.) 

.A. Yes. 
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Q. Did you have any particular directors that you 
wanted when you sent them up to the library~ A. No, I did 
not. 

Q. What instructions did you give them~ A. I told 
them I was anxious to get jurors from Westchester Coun­
ty and the above counties and if they would go up to the 
Directory of Directors and secure names, get names and 
bring them back to the office. 

Q. Get nameL:S from the Directory of Directors who 
lived in Westchester County~ A. Or the outlying coun­
ties, I believe the way I explained it to them, counties 
above the Bronx, vV estchester County and above. 

Q. At that particular period, though, weren't you in­
terested in any directors from Manhattan and the Bronx? 
A. If they were there and they took them, if they brought 
back names of directors from Manhattan, it didn't make 
any difference. 

Q. Now is it a requirement in New York State that the 
director of a corporation be a citizen~ 

(3918) Mr. McCabe: I don't know, your Honor. 

Q. Do you know whether it is or not~ A. I do not. 

Mr. McGohey : I object to this, your Honor. 
Its relevance completely escapeiS me. 

The Court: l\1:inima, minima. But go ahead, 
Mr. McCabe, you may be working up to something. 
That is what I keep thinking all the time. 

Mr. McCabe: I was just wondering, if a man 
is going out to get grand jurors, I am wondering 
what leads him to go to the source which may-

The Court: But be didn't say he was going out 
for grand jurors. The questions· that were put to 
him have had to do with hll-3 getting people to come 
in in answer to the qualification notices, and whether 
they later became grand jurors or petit jurors was 
something else again that happened later. 

Mr. McCabe: Now, let us ask him about that. 

Q. When you wanted to get these names from West­
chester County, these directors, Mr. McKenzie, did you 
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have any particular category in mind rus between grand 
jurors and petit jurors~ A. No, I did not. 

Q. The answer is No. 

:Mr. ::M:cGohey: If the Court please, I base my 
objection on something, that is, that it is irrelevant 
and (3919) im1naterial because the testimony in 
the case is that no matter what the source of the 
information \vas that per~;Son was going to have to 
come in and fill out a questionnaire and it was going 
to be ascertained whether he was a citizen, whether 
he was over 21, whether he was over 70. So this 
line of questioning is both imn1aterial, incompetent 
and irrelevant. 

The Court : Well, the one question got in there 
that I thought might have some importance and 
that was whether when he sent this woman up he 
told her to find a particular man that he wrus look­
ing for, to get a particular individual, but he said 
no as to that. 

Now if that is \vhat you are after, Mr. McCabe, 
I am going to let you pursue this question further. 

Mr. McCabe: I am just trying to develop the 
point that in Mr. ~fcKenzie 's mind anyone on that 
list would be all right, any director would be all 
right, he wasn't interested in any particular di­
rector but he wanted to get himself some directors. 

Mr. ~IcGohey: I move to strike that. Now, your 
Honor, the witne~s has testified as to the purpose 
for which he sent the clerks up there. 

The Court: Mr. :M~cCabe's statement is not quite 
accurate; but let us get along with the cross-examina­
tion now. I dropped the directors. Let us let 
(3920) the directors go. 

Mr. McCabe: That is apparently more than 
Mr. McKenzie has been willing to do. 

Mr. McGohey: I move to strike that, your 
Honor. 

The Court: Strike it out. 
Mr. McCabe: Well, now, your Honor, as, long 

rus Mr. McGohey wants to cut me off from pursuing 
the line of inquiry that I thought your Honor would 
be interested in-
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The Court: If you have something good there, 
why don't you get after it, Mr. McCabe~ What is 
the use in making out that I arn precluding you from 
going ahead with a very important crucial cross­
examination~ If you have got anything there, go 
after it. 

Mr. McCabe: I think I have had enough, your 
Honor. 

The Court: All right. Well, now, let us see; 
maybe somebody else wants to do some cross-exam­
ining before we have the redirect. 

Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor, you will recall 
that I was questioning J\tfr. ~Icl{enzie concerning 
the registered lists of voters that were used in 
1947 and 1948 and then asked leave to have my 
examination interrupted and said I ·would come 
back and conclude it, and your IIonor gave me 
( 3921) leave. And I would like to take up the 
subject. 

The Court : You may do that. 
Mr. Gladstein: \Vould you be good enough to 

let me have the registered list of voters that you 
see there~ They are right in front of you. 

The Court : Tho!3e are the ones you had checked 
up this morning. 

Mr. Gladstein: I looked at thern this morning 
and made a f,ew notes on them. That is, not on the 
lists ; made notes of my own from them. 

The Court: Yes, that is all right. 
Well, I guess we had better take our recess 

no,v. I have instructed 1\tir. l\fcKenzie to go and 
look in that drawer and bring that voucher out. 

(Short receiSs.) 

l\fr. Crockett: If the Court please, I believe 
the record already shows that all of the history 
cards in the active .file are present here in court. 
I would like to request, 'vith the Court's permis­
sion, that the history cards for each person who 
is named on Exhibits 159, 160, 162, 163 and 226 be 
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deemed marked in evidence. Tho1se numbers that 
I refer to are the so-called ''Colored'' list. 

~1r. Gordon: That is objected to, your Honor, 
unless there is some point to it. It is just time­
consunling. 

( 3922) The Court : You see, those are the five 
lists of colored naines, that :Us, names of colored 
persons, and my disposition is to allo·w complete 
evidence as to all of those on those lists to find out 
whatever may be found. Now, I do not want to 
just deem them in evidence without my looking at 
them, because I have been looking at everything 
here a~ it goes along. 

l\1r. Crockett: May I suggest that Mr. Mc­
Kenzie's assistant can be picking them out while 
we go on with this cross-exan1ination. 

The Court: Yes, but when do you think I am 
going to be looking at them 1 

Mr. Crockett : No ; I mean as soon as he gets 
then1 together then vve can pas!S them up to your 
Honor or we can take it up in the morning. 

The Court: Well, I think we will start with 
two of them and see what we find, and then if there 
is some reason to go beyond that I will permit it to 
be done. 

Now, let m-e see. As to 159, that was the list 
with the 13 names on it. 

1fr. Crockett: That is right. 
The Court: And I have some recollection that 

we looked at four of those already. Let me see. 
Ls Flood on there~ Yes; Flood, Coleman, White­
White apparently is from another list; Mrs. Sadie 
N oisette is from ( 3923) another list. 

l\1r. Sacher: She isn't on any list, your Honor. 
The Court: What is that1 
Mr. Sacher: She isn't on any list, your Honor. 
Mr. Crockett: She isn't on any list. 
The Court: I just had tholSe names down here. 
1fr. Crockett: She was on the list for which I 

requested questionnaires and history cards. 
The Court: I have a notation here. Let me 

see. Registered voters or volunteer. That must 
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mean that Mr. McKenzie testified to that effect. 
But however that may be, let us get them all out 
for thooe first two, 159 and 160, and we will take a 
look at then1 and see what \Ve ·find, and then I vvill 
decide about the others. 

Mr. Crockett: I can explain to the Court that 
what I am trying to find out is how many of those 
on that list became jurors, actually qualified for 
jury service ; secondly, which ones qualified as grand 
jurors and which ones qualified as petit jurors. I 
think that information lis obtained from the history 
card. 

The Court: Suppose, while we are discussing 
it, suppose we found that it was in any proportion 
you choose to assume, what inferences might one 
derive from that~ 

Mr. Crockett: I am not concerned about the 
(3924) proportions, your Honor. I want to find 
out whether or not any of thern qualified for the 
grand jury from that list. 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, I object to that as 
completely irrelevant to anything that could pos~ 
sibly be raised. 

The Court: 'V ell, it is beginning to give me 
the impression that I had last week of an endless 
chain; whatev-er you nnd then that is always the 
springboard for something else that 1nay be found, 
and you go on and on and there is never any end, 
and I very much dllilike curtailing proof when you 
get into the actual workings here. I want to give 
every reasonable opportunity to show anything 
that is wrong there. But it looks to me as though 
it \vas just a fishing around in the hopes that some­
thing or other might be found that would lead to 
something else. 

But, anyway, I am going to let the cards on those 
two lists be got out, and then I will take a look at 
them and we will see. 

The witness, Mr. Sacher, has now got that 
memorandum here, and I take it you would prefer 
to 'vait until Mr.-
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Mr. Sacher: May I see the memo, however, in 
the meantime 1 

(3925) The Court: Yes, you may. 
Mr. Gordon: ~1ay I call som·ething to your 

Honor's attention 1 
'l1he Court: Yes. 
Mr. Gordon: Right at the beginning of the 

cross-examination of the witness by Mr. Crockett he 
called for the qualification sheet and the card of 
Richard-

The Court: S. Bair. 
Mr. Gordon: -Bair, which 1vas marked Exhibit 

184-A and B. 
The Court: That is right. 
1fr. Gordon: And that is one of these sheets 

that has a C on it, and the history card shows that 
the man is a grand juror and that he served in 
1944 and 194 7 on the grand jury. 

The Court : Oh. vVell, then I will take back 
that other direction. 

You knew all the time there was one that was a 
grand juror. 

Mr. Crockett: No, I did not. And I would like 
to see that questionnaire. 

The Court: Well, take a look at it. 
Mr. Crockett: But my point is to find out how 

many of the people on these other exhibits qualified 
as grand jurors. 

(3926) The Court: I am afraid it is some more 
of this trifling. 

Now, you need not take any of those cards out, 
you just leave them alone for the time being. 

Let Mr. Sacher see that memorandum. 
Mr. Gladstein: May I proceed, your Honor! 

Shall I proceed? 
The Court : Yes. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Mr. McKenzie, as I understand your testimony, from 
time to time you removed the names of jurors from files 
by reason of your obtaining information that they moved 
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from the jurisdiction or they are dead, or they passed the 
age of 70, or reasons of tha.t sort; is that right 1 A. That 
is correct. 

Q. That is the normal process that goes on every n1onth, 
is that correct~ A. At all times that is going on. 

Q. And every month you keep a tabulation of the fact 
that a certain number of such jurors have had their names 
removed from the active files; correct~ A. That is cor­
rect. 

Q. Now, for example, I ask you to look at Exhibit 179 
in evidence, page 31. Does it purport to set forth a 
month by month recapitulation of the removal of cards 
from the (3927) active jury lists~ Does it 1 A. Yes, I 
would say it does. 

Q. All right. Now, what is the lowest number of cards 
removed during that year, for what month is it7 A. The 
year of 1948 on the trial jury 1 

Q. Yes. What is the lowest number of cards of male 
jurors removed during any part of that year 1 

The Court: This is indicating by months. 
The Witness: That is correct. 

· Q. Just the lowest. A. In July. 
Q. How many did you remove during the month of 

July¥ 

The Court: Of '48. 

A. July, 12 men and seven women. 
Q. All right. Now, what was the highest number of 

names during any month removed during the year 1948T 
A. There is a combination of two months here which is 
the highest number. 

Q. Which are they1 A. January and February, 132 
men removed from the list. 

Q. And how many women 1 A. 25 women. 
Q. And January and February were not separately 

ta hula ted, but combined together represent the largest 
number for any two months of names removed from the 
active file during the year 1948; correct? A. That is cor­
rect. 
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Q. And all of the other months show figures like 58 
( 3928) or 44 or 60 or 24, or figures in between those two 
extremes ; correct 1 

The Court: But those figures are not in between 
those two extremes. 

Mr. Gladstein: In between 12 and 1321 
The Court: Oh, 132. I thought you said 32. 
Mr. Gladstein: No, the witness said 132. 
The Court: 32 men 1 
The Witness: 132 for January and February. 
The Court: Oh, I beg your pardon. That is 

right. 
Mr. Gladstein: Is that clear now, your Honorf 
The Court: Yes. 

Q. N O\V I want you to turn to that portion of your 
record, page 17. 

The Court: Which book is this 7 179 or 1807 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes, 179. 
The Witness: 179. 

Q. Now, from February through December of 1947, what 
was the largest number of names removed from the active 
lists at any time in any month, from February through 
December~ A. July of 194 7 there were 126 men removed 
from the rolls. 

Q. How many women~ A. 22 women. 
Q. And what was the month in which the lowest number 

of names was removed from the active jury file Y ( 3929) 
A. May of 194 7, there were 36 men removed and seven 
women. 

Q. And in April of that year there were 34 men, or 
the names of men removed, and 15 names of women; is 
that correct f A. That is correct. 

Q. Now in one month alone, January 1947, how many 
cards were removed from the active files of jurors 1 A. 
That is not removed, Mr. Gladstein. 

Q. How many does your record show of cards removed 
from the files? A. I have already accounted for them. 
2,353. When you gave the figure-
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The Court: Just let me get the :figure. Two 
thouand and what~ 

The Witness: 2,353. 

Q. That figure appears just below the following ex-
pression, does it not, ''Names removed''-

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor,-
Mr. Gladstein: May I finish the question 1 
Mr. Gordon: -this line of examination is ob­

jected to as repetitious and obviously time-consum­
ing. This was gone over; we had a discussion about 
it the other day, and I think the witness agreed 
that it was when they took a stock inventory in­
stead of a running inventory. 

Mr. Gladstein: The witness agreed to no such 
(3930) thing. 

The Court: I am getting so bewildered here 
by the constant change of subject that I can hardly 
follow this matter any n1ore. It is just a strain on 
me mentally; I no sooner get my mind on one thing, 
with every endeavor to get it straight, when we are 
off on sornething else, and it makes a perfect mass 
of confusion. 

Let me check back here and see what this is. 
Do you remember, Mr. Gordon, about when that 

subject was gone into~ I have my notes here ac­
cording to days, and this has gone on severals days; 
I have tried to arrange it by subject matter but, of 
course, the change of subject matter was so rapid 
that I had to give that up. 

Mr. Gordon: I am trying to find it, your Honor. 
The Court: All right, take your time now be­

cause I want to understand this. But I am getting 
absolutely bewildered. 

Mr. Gordon: It was right about the time that 
Exhibit 179 was first introduced. 

The Court: All right, just a second now. 179. 
Now, let me see that book for a second. 

(Book handed to the Court.) 
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(3931) The Court: Now, what did you say the 
explanation for that large figure was~ The column, 
or, rather, the tabulation reads: ''Brought fo~ward 
December 1946, 9162 men; 1658 women.'' 

The Witness: That was what was on the old 
sheet. 

The Court: That is right. Then according to 
months here for 1947 there is an indication of those 
who were taken off and the balance remaining' 

The Witness: Yes . 
The Court: Now, what is the explanation for 

that 2353 ~ 
The Witness: In other words, Mr. Doyle, in 

starting this book, he asked as to that figure-
The Court: Oh, I ren1ember now. It was a dis­

crepancy¥ 
The Witness: And they counted the cards, and 

when they counted them they found the correct 
amount-

The Court: I remember. I sustain the objec­
tion. 

Mr. Gladstein: If your Honor please, I offer 
to prove by this witness if he were permitted to an­
swer the question-

The Court: You don't need any offer of proof. 
Ask your question. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. 

(3932) By flil r. Gladstein: 

Q. Isn't it a fact that accordnig to your records the 
cards of 2354 jurors were removed in the month of J anu­
ary, 1947~ 

Mr. Gordon: Objected to. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that according to the official records 
of your office 9162 jurors, male, and 1658 jurors, female 
had cards in your active files as of December, 19467 A: 
That is not so. 
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Q. Will you look at your records and see what they 
sayt A. When they were counted they were not there. 

Q. I asked you if according to your records those were 
the figures. Is that true, according to your record, that 
those aref 

Mr. Gordon: This is objected to as repetitious; 
and, secondly, your Honor, counsel has said ''Accord­
ing to the official records of your office.'' 

,Now, I think there should be a distinction made 
between the official records of the clerk's office and 
records which the jury clerk might keep for his own 
convenience. 

The Court: I am going to sustain the objection 
anyway. 

l\1r. Gladstein: Am I to understand that the 
( 3933) document is not to be regarded as an offi­
cial record 1 

The Court: You don't understand that I have 
ruled on it at all. 

Q. Now, Mr. Mcl{enzie, did you keep a tabulation of 
the month by month count of jurors in your active files 
for the period prior to December 1946 ~ 

l\1r. Gordon: Same objection. Repetitious. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Does your record show what the count of the active 
jury file cards was at any time between 1940 and 19471 

Mr. Gordon: I press the objection. 
The Court : Sustained. 
Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor, I submit this is 

not a subject that has been inquired into, and we have 
a right to ask if there was such a record. 

The Court: I have sustained the objection. 
Mr. Gladstein: Of course, I cannot argue with 

the Court about the matter, but I do submit that it 
ought to be permitted that we inquire into why 
2,353 cards were missing from the files, either be­
cause they were removed in the month of January 
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1947 or because they were removed from time to 
time prior thereto, so that upon a count of all the 
cards as of January 194 7 there was found that 2,353, 
or, in other words, approximately (39.34) 25 per 
cent of all the active cards of the jurors were no 
longer there; and I submit, your Honor, that that 
subject has not been examined into. 

The Court: Mr. Gladstein, to some people it 
seems that if you ask a person and he answers, and 
then you ask him again and he says the same thing, 
and you ask him again and he says the same thing, 
that until you get the kind of answer you 'vant, that, 
of course, you have not asked the question. Now, I 
ruled that question out. I have heard what he said 
about it. It is for me to consider what weight I 
will give to it and how I will consider it, and I do 
not think repeating it over and over is going to ·do 
any good. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well. 

Q. Now I show you Challenge Exhibit 183-A for iden­
tification. This is a list of registered voters for the year 
1946 that you obtained, as I understand it, in connection 
with your getting a number of Assembly District lists from 
which to get names for potential jurors; correct~ A. That 
is correct. 

Q. vVill you look through that one and see whether you 
obtained any name whatsoever from any part of that en:­
tire Assen1bly District~ 

The Court: What is the exhibit number 1 
lVIr. Gladstein: 183-A for identification. 
(3935) The Court: 183-A ~ And what district 

is it~ 
Mr. Gladstein: The 1st Assembly District of the 

Bronx. 
The Court: Now may I have that map or those 

maps back? 
~1r. Gladstein: Yes. 
The Witness: In the absence of numbers being 

on this I would say this book had not been used. 
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Q .. Now, I will show you the list of registered voters 
for the year 1946, Second Assembly District, Borough 
of the Bronx, which is here marked Challenge Exhibit 
183-B for identification. I will ask you to look through it 
and state whether it shows any evidence of your having 
otbained names from it of people to whom you sent notices 
to come in and qualify for jury service? A. I see on page 
7 nine numbers which would indicate that nine qualifica­
tion notices were written up in this book. 

Q. And do those nine nanws which you have just men­
tioned, and as to which son1e n1arks have been made to 
indicate that their names were taken from that document 
for usc as potential jurors-do they occur within a single 
Eelction District~ A. I would say yes, they do. 

Q. \Vhich one~ Doesn't it show~ A. It shows the 11th 
Election District, and there are nine names here ( 3936) 
with numbers alongside them. 

Q. And that appears on page what? A. That appears 
on page 7. 

Q. Then is it your testimony that not a single name 
was marked fr01n page 1 to page 7, nor a single name 
rnarked from page 8 through page 37; is that right 1 A. 
That is correct. 

The Court : Let me see that just a second, Mr. 
Gladstein. 

(Exhibit handed to the Court.) 

By the Court: 

Q. What are all these n1arks I see on page 71 A. Those 
are names and check marks of the people who used the 
books in the office. When they write out a book they will 
put a number alongside of a name. In other words, the 
clerk will be assigned to send out notices, or come into the 
jury office to assist you to send out notices. They would 
be given a registered voter book along with a batch of 
notices; they go off into a courtroom or wherever his desk 
may be and write notices. 
. Q. That is what he did with those 1 A. That is what 
the occasion would appear on this here. 
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Q. But, you see, these are some more you did not notice 
(indicating). You were telling me about page 9. 

Mr. Gladstein: No, your Honor has that mis­
taken. 

A. There are none on page 9. 
Q. Those are the same ones you are talking about 7 A. 

Yes, nine notices or nine checks on page 7. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. You decided, of course, 1fr. 1fcKenzie, which of 
these registered lists to give your clerks, is that right? 
A. I go to a drawer and pick out a book from the file 
drawer and hand it to them. 

By the Court: 
Q. How is he to know how many he would get out of 

this book? Who fixed that number 9? A. In other words, 
you can't account as to how many he will get out of a 
book. It would be how much time he is on the book. He 
can sit down and write up five or write up 500. 

Q. It is just a question of chance? A. Yes, that is true, 
the time he will devote to it writing the notices. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. You mean it is just a question of chance that out 
of that whole hook 9 names appearing on page 7, and no 
names appearing on any of the other 30-odd pages will 
be checked? Is that what you mean, sir? A. I don't get 
that. 

Q. No, I don't wonder. Do you want to hear it again? 

Mr. McGohey: I move to strike that out, your 
(3938) Honor. That is certainly what the man tes­
tified to. Another handful of fish hooks. 

~fr. Isserman: If your Honor would like to hear 
me-

The Court: You will not do it now. 
1fr. Isserma.n: Your Honor asked a question. 
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The Court: I happen to be talking now, and 
you will kindly be silent a moment and wait. 

It seems to me if somebody was to pick names 
out of a book it would be pure chance unless he was 
looking for some particular individuals whether he 
picked one name from one page, a couple of names 
from some other page, and so on. I do not see any­
thing so significant that there would be 9 of them 
in the same Election District. 

Now, what do you want to say, Mr. Isserman? 
1V1r. Isserman: I was going to show that the 

Assembly District in question may have as many as 
60 or more Election Districts-I don't know the 
exact number; I haven't got the book in front of 
me; it probably ranges between 50 and 70 Election 
Districts-may I have the book, please 1 

The Court: I don't see how else they are going 
to pick them except the way the witness has stated, 
unless, as you perhaps think, they had some par­
ticular individuals (3939) up there who were 
picked out for some special reason. 

Were there particular individuals there that you 
ever heard of 1 

The Witness: No, your Honor, I never did. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. ~fr. :McKenzie, how do you account for the fact 
that-

:Mr. Isserman: Let me finish. 
Mr. Gladstein: Oh, I am sorry. 
The Court: You take all the time you want, Mr. 

Isserman, and give me a good argument to show 
what is wrong about this. 

Mr. Isserman: I will show you. This exhibit, 
183 for identification, Challenge Exhibit 183 for 
identification, represents the list of registered voters 
for the Second Assembly District of the Borough 
of the Bronx. It contains some 60 Election Dis­
tricts, some 500-averaging roughly :five to seven 
hundred names in each district. I have counted 
them, and that is what the average runs. 
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The Court: That accounts for how many 
thousands~ 

Mr. Isserman: So let us say even 500 to a 
district, it amounts to 30,000 names in the Bronx. 

The clerk has testified that in the year 1947 by 
a change in the system he ~ommenced using the list 
of registered voters in lVIanhattan and the Bronx 
to select (3940) names. We have here one dis­
trict with over 30,000 names. We find no selection 
in any Election District whatsoever until we get 
to page 7, where in the 11th Election District some 
9 names are chosen. It ·would take any person about 
three minutes or less to make that selection of 9 
names. The clerk says that the reason why 30,000 
less 9 names were not used in 1947 and 1948 in this 
area of the Bronx is because some clerk did not 
have time to copy names. Now, that, your Honor, 
does not appeal to common sense. And I say this-

The Court: I don't so understand it. 
11r. Isserman: -and I say this, that an inves­

tigation will show that these 9 names picked on this 
particular page were not picked at random out of 
this book, and that this book was not used to select 
jurors in the Bronx, but was used to check off these 
particular 9 names. 

The Court: Suppose you were the jury clerk 
and you had I don't know how many hundreds 
of Election Districts covering millions of people in 
the City of New York, and you had that list before 
you, in the exercise of your discretion how many 
names would you have picked' 

J\fr. Isserman: Your Honor said the other day 
looking at one of the exhibits in evidence that it 
seems-

( 3941) The Court: No, I just want you to con­
centrate on this. 

Mr. Isserman: I am concentrating, your Honor. 
Your Honor said-

The Court : No, keep the general picture in mind. 
And here this man picked 9. Now how many would 
you have picked out of that particular one? 
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Mr. Isserman: I will tell you. Your Honor said 
the other day looking at one list that it seems that 
every tenth name is picked. Now I have had some 
experience or knowledge of how Election Districts 
are used for jury purposes, and sometimes they 
will pick every tenth name; sometimes-

The Court : Do you remember my question~ 
11:r. Isserman: -sometimes they will pick the 

first five names and skip the next five, and pick the 
next five, and skip one, or pick one name in 20 or 
five every so often; but I say the selection of 9 
names out of 30,000 in one district on one page is 
not a type of selection-

The Court: How many would you have selected T 
Mr. Isserman: How many would I have selected T 
The Court: That is the question. 
Mr. Isserman: I am not the jury commissioner, 

(3942) your Honor, or the jury clerk, but I know 
this-

The Court: If you can, 'vith all your talk about 
this, get yourself into the frame of mind of imagin­
ing· that you were the jury commissioner, function­
ing under the system that you say should have been 
used, how many names would you have picked from 
that book~ 

Mr. Isserman: It would depend on a number of 
things, your Honor. If at this point I was looking 
for 500 names and I had my districts in rotation, 
and I was trying not to exclude a district like the 
1st-and we will bring evidence to show what that 
district is and why these names were not selected-

The Court: You might pick out 9? 
Mr. Isserma.n : No. I would find some method 

which would be truly representative of the 30,000 
people living in the 1st Assembly District. 

The Court: How would you know which of those 
people were colored or Jews or other things 1 How 
would you tell1 

Mr. Isserman: That is not the practice, your 
Honor. I would take a representative grouping, 
and 9 is not ·a representation out of 30,000 or more. 
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The Court: Then you say maybe you would 
have taken 50~ 

1fr. Isserman: No. I might have taken 500, 
( 3943) your Honor. 

The Court: You might have taken 500~ If you 
took 500 from that district and you took 500 more 
from every other district, you would have such a 
huge number of names as to be utterly unwieldly, 
wouldn't you~ 

1\ir. Isserman: That doesn't follow. 
The Court: It seems to me to follow. 
~Ir. Isserman: No. There are 16 districts in 

:Manhattan. There are, I believe, 13 in the Bronx­
I may be one out-that is 28 districts. The 500 
would come to about 28,000, which is just about the 
amount that the clerk said he sent out that year. 
But he did not do that. He took whole districts 
and excluded them. He took the first and picked 
9 names out of 30,000, and the reason was the com­
position of the 1st Assembly District, which we will 
put on this record. 

The Court: You probably would have picked 
them differently, and I suppose no two human 
beings-

1\1r. Isserman: Without discrimination, your 
Honor. 

The Court : Well, I am getting tired of this 
kind of proof of alleged discrimination. If this 
selection of these 9 names out of this book is some· 
thing wrong, it is very difficult for me to perceive it. 

( 3944) 11:r. Isserman : Does your Honor know 
the composition of the 1st Assembly District in the 
Bronx~ 

The Court: I haven't the slightest idea. 
Mr. Isserman: We will offer evidence on it 

and we will show why only 9 names were picked. 
The Court: We will see what evidence you will 

offer. We will come to that a little later on. 
Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, it would be enlight­

ening, I think, if it would not offend you, for you 
to read the 9 names. Mav I~ 

The Court: Yes. " 
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l'Ylr. Gordon: The first name is Edward Conlon; 
the next name is Henry F. Peters; the next one is 
Rose Katz; the next one is Evelyn Markowitz; the 
next one is ::Morris Levine; the next one is Russell 
Lake stream; Philip Lewerth; Nicholas W erkler and 
Harry Beck. Those are the nine names, your Honor. 

1\fr. Gladstein: That were picked. What about 
the 30,000 that were not~ 

The Court: Well, it does not look like they dis­
criminated against people with Jewish names. 

Mr. Gladstein: I can show from that-
The Court: I suppose your position is that you 

can't tell about these names. If you get men with 
names like Katz and Levine and that sort of thing 
that ordinarily (3945) one might consider that 
perhaps they were Jewish; but you say you could 
not tell whether he was a Jew or not without some 
special investigation~ 

Mr. Gladstein: Could I answer this question'? 
You know, you asked Mr. Isserman if he could 
answer a question, your Honor, and I would like 
very much to say something on that, if I may. 

The Court: I think perhaps we had better let 
it pass. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, I ask you, J\Ir. McKenzie, when you go to 
your files and select a list of registered voters for one of 
your clerks to begin to make marks on that list for the 
purpose of picking the names of potential jurors, people 
to whom you are going to send notices to come in and 
qualify, do you tell him how many names you want him to 
pick~ Do you say 500, a thousand, or what? A. No, I 
do not. 

·Q. You do not give them any idea .as to how many 
names you want? A. I give them the notices and to get 
as many as the time will allow them working there. I 
never say get any amount. 
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Q. Who are the people during 1947 and 1948 who have 
been making the markings on these lists of registered 
(3946) voters? A. Mr. Ward, deputy court clerk. 

Q. First name, please? A. Thomas Ward; a deputy 
court clerk. 

Q. Who elseY A. A Mr. Rexrode. 
·Q. Full name, please? A. Charles Rexrode. 
Q. Yes~ A. l\1rs. Florence Fitton. 
Q. Is she a relative of yours by the wayY A. Of mineT 
Q. Yes. A. No, sir. 
Q. Is she related to the clerk 1 

The Court: Suppose she were, what of itT 

Q. Is she related to the clerk? A. She is not related 
to me. 

The Court : I am not going to permit that. I 
don't understand that kind of thing. Suppose she 
were his sister, what of it 1 

Q. Who else, please, l\1r. ~fcKenzieY A. Mrs. Steven­
sou. 

Q. Who elseY 

Mr. Crockett: First name' 
~fr. Gladstein: Do you want to ·give the first 

name of Mrs. Stevenson 1 
The Witness: That I don't know, the first name 

of ?\frs. Stevenson. 

Q. You don't know? A. No. I believe there was Mr. 
Leary. 

Q. First name. 

(3947) Mr. ~feGohey: Your I-Ionor, what is the 
materiality of this 1 

The Court: Well, I am going to find out. Maybe 
they want to subpoena all these people. 

Mr. Gladstein: I might. It is possible that the 
recollection of one of them might be better on the 
subject than Mr. McKenzie. 
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Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, unless there is some 
further cross-examination which is proper or rele­
vant, I am going to object to this and ask that we 
go on with the proof. That remark certainly was 
uncalled for. 

The Court : Yes, it does seem to me of getting 
back to that old routine of just dragging, dragging, 
dragging; and if you are just going to ask the wit­
ness about all the different people around the court 
house-

Mr. l\fcGohey: And his relatives. 
The Court: -and then plan to serve subpoenas 

on everybody to keep the thing going indefinitely, 
I will find some way to stop it. 

Mr. Isserman: Now, if the Court please, I am 
going to object to your Honor's characterization of 
the cross-examination-

The Court: Yes, you are always helpful, Mr. 
Isserman. Go ahead. 

Mr. Isserman: I would like to object to your 
(3948) Honor's remarks on the ground that the 
inquiry from a witness on the persons under him 
who did things in connection with jury service is 
completely relevant and proper. There is no indi­
cation or suggestion that every one of those persons 
is or will be subpoenaed, but on cross-examination 
we are entitled to know the persons who worked 
on the selection which is on review before the Court. 
We are entitled to pursue this cross-examination, 
and on behalf of the clients I represent, while we 
have made every effort here not to duplicate, and it 
is not our intention to duplicate, I say that I desire 
and expect to have the right to cross-examine this 
witness to the point where the essential matters 
which I believe-

The Court: You are going to cross-examine him 
too~ 

Mr. Isserman: I certainly am, your Honor, on 
behalf of my clients. 

The Court: Well, we will see. 
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Mr. Isserman: We will see about that. I have 
matters which have not been touched on by the· 
others. 

The Court: Better let l\1r. Gladstein take care 
of it at the moment, and then when you start cross­
examining you will have enough to do then. 

Now, go ahead, 11:r. Gladstein, with the rest 
( 3949) of those books and get the business here. 

By Mr. Gladste-in: 

Q. I Bhow you Challenge Exhibit 183-K: for identifica­
tion which has to do with the 13th Assembly District of 
the Bronx. Look through the first 8 pages and state, if 
you will, ·whether or not marks appear for a rather sub­
stantial number of persons. 

The Court: What is the number of this district? 
1fr. Gladstein: The 13th. 
The Court: Is that where Parkchester is Y 
Mr. Gladstein: No, your Honor, Parkchester is 

the lOth and the 9th. 
!vir. Gordon: Instead of having the witness 

characterize the marks, why not hand the exhibit to 
the Court 1 The Judge has to pass on it. 

The Court: Yes, let me look at it. Just a 
couple~ 

~{r. Gladstein: No, your Honor. 
You just watch me, Mr. McKenzie-perhaps we 

can shorten this-
The Court: No, I want to see the book. 
Mr. Gladstein: Oh yes, sure. 
The Court: Now, is there something special the 

matter with this district~ All rich people up there? 
Mr. Gladstein: I simply want to call attention­
( 3950) The Court: Well, I asked a question. 

Do you consider that this is an especially rich dis­
trict, the 13th Assembly District~ 

Mr. Gladstein: That district-that is, the Elec­
tion Districts in that Assembly District which ap­
pear on the first eight pages are-yes, are in the 
v.realthiest section of the Bronx, and your Honor 
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will see that 1300-and-some-odd names come from 
those first eight pages and not a single name came 
from any of the remaining 52 pages of that book. 

( 3951) The Court : 8o you say that is a very 
wealthy district up there, so they picked all these 
people on purpose for that reason 1 Or if you don't 
desire-

Mr. Gladstein: I did not pick them. 
The Court: I did not say you picked them, Mr. 

Gladstein. But there is such a way of getting along 
with it ,so we don't chew over everything so much. 

Mr. Gladstein: I just want to get the figures into 
the record. 

The Court : Now, I would like to see all these 
books together for the moment here. Let me have 
them all. 

Mr. Gladstein: Do you want them in orderf 
The Court: I don't care particularly about the 

order. I just want to see them. Let me look at them. 

(Books handed to court.) 

By the Court: 

Q. Now, I see here, Mr. McKenzie, that in some of these 
they seem to be picked about every ten names; sometimes 
they are all higgledy-piggledy; there is a list, there would 
be two or three near together, and then they would skip 15· 
or 20, and there seems to be no particular system. In some 
of them the first few pages will be marked with numbers 
and the later pages not marked at all. Was there any; 
system followed as to this 1 (3952) A. There was none 
whatsoever, your Honor. It was up to the individual-

Yr. Sacher: I object to that question as irrele­
vant, incompetent and immaterial and calling for a 
·conclusion of the witness. 

The Court: Overruled. 
Mr. Sacher: Exception. 
Mr. Gordon: I did not hear all of the witness's 

answer, your Honor. 
The Witness: It was up to the individual, your 

Honor, as to how they selected the names. 
Mr. Sacher: I can't hear. 
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Q. Did you when you gave out these books to th~se 
various assistants did you tell them to look at the r1ch 
places and pick the rich people1 A. Definitely not, your 
Honor. 

Q. Do you know what these different districts are, a-s 
to whether they are inhabited by one class of people or an­
other class of people 7 A. I do not, your Honor. 

Mr. Gladstein: Judge, your questions and the 
answers to them put me in mind of the very wonder­
ful sentence you wrote to the Supreme Court about 
what jury clerks do. 

The Court: Yes, I know. I suppose I will hear 
that to the end of time. 

1\Ir. Gladstein: I suppose it is a matter of (3953) 
pure chance that all those pages-you will find whole 
pages crossed out. You look through some of those, 
Judge, and you will find the word ''Out'' on them. 
You will find things crossed. 

Mr. Gordon: Ask the witness his-what year is 
this, Your Honor 1 

The Court : Let me see one of those. 
Mr. Gordon: The Tenth Assembly District, the 

witness said. 
The Court: The Tenth Assembly District of the 

Bronxf 
Mr. Gordon: Yes. 

By the Court: 

Q. Now, there is a place where there is a blue pencil 
mark with the word ''Out.'' Do you know anything about 
that? A. I do, your Honor. 

Q. Well, tell me about it. A. In other words, the book 
that was used for 1945 down to this time embodied this 
Parkchester area, and in writing out the notices the girl 
had written out these here in the previous election book. So 
in order that they would not be duplicated and sen:t out 
all over again, this was marked out of the new book so the 
party in using this book would not duplicate the names 
that had been sent out in the previous books. 

The Court: I thought it was suggested here that 
(3954) they only took them from Parkchester. What 
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are all these here in the later pages~ Aren't those 
Parkchester ~ 

Mr. Sacher: They had already been taken, your 
Honor. 

The Court: No. 
lv1r. Sacher: He said they had previously been 

taken. 
The Court: Taken from the place where it was 

marked "Out,'' 1\fr. Sacher. 
Mr. Sacher: Yes. They had them already. 
The Court: Now, how about these ones that are 

not marked ''Out'' that come on the later pages 7 
Mr. Gladstein: Which one are you looking aU 
The Court: The one we have been looking at all 

along, 183-H, which is the list of registered voters 
for the year 1946 in the Tenth Assembly District of 
the Bronx. 

Mr. Gladstein: I just want to correct your 
Honor. It just so happens that nobody this after­
noon has mentioned 183-H. 

The Court: You mentioned the place where some 
parts had been marked ''Out.'' 

Mr. Gladstein: That is not the only one. 
The Court: That is not the one you were talk­

ing about? 
(3955) Mr. Gladstein: I say that is not the only 

one, and I have no objection to your Honor asking 
the witness the question, but I think the record 
should show the exhibit you are talking about. 

The Court: I don't think your objection would 
have much weight. 

Mr. Gordon: Maybe there are some marked 
"Out" in the Ninth as well, your Honor. 

By the 0o11Jrt: 

Q. You look here where I tell you to, Mr. McKenzie, and 
see the number of name.s in this exhibit that I have just 
identified after the part marked "Out" with the blue 
pencil, and do you see all these numbers along here (indi­
cating); they indicate selections of persons to whom notices 
were to be sent, don't they~ A. Were sent or to be sent. 
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Q. Yes. N o'v how were they picked out 1 You see, the 
other one has ''Out,'' a big cross in blue pencil, and then 
the pages that follow it are the.se pages I am directing 
your attention to. Now, how is it that some are marked 
"out" and these others have numbers alongside~ A. In the 
old book they had only sent notices to these particular 
pages. 

Mr. Sacher: "These particular" meaning those 
in Parckchester, is that right~ 

(3956) The Witness: The ones in Parkchester. 

By the Court: 
Q. Where the word ''Out'' appears 1 A. Yes, sir. 
Q. So these later ones are not in Parkchester 1 A. 

Well, that I will have to look. I don't know, your Honor. 

Mr. Isserman: We will have evidence on that, 
your Honor, as to where they are. 

The Court: Well, don't be too sure. 
The Witness: I would have to know just where 

this is as to whether or not it is. 

Q. It might be Parkchester and maybe not 1 A. That 
is true, your Honor. 

The Court: Now, what is the next thing, Mr. 
Gladsteinf 

Mr. Gladstein: Oh, there are a number of them 
with lines scratched through them. Let us first ask 
the witness-

The Court: No, we will just pursue what I have 
in mind here for a second. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, I want to object to your 
Honor taking the cross examination out of my hands 
without permitting me to complete this portion of my 
cross examination. For example, I desire to know 
whether it was Mr. McKenzie or someone else who 
made those marks on that exhibit, and (3957) if 
I am not permitted to do that now, if I come back 
to it there will be an objection that it has been 
touched on, and your Honor will say yes, that is 
repetitious. So I desire the opportunity to complete 
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on this subject at this time, and I object to your 
Honor preventing it. 

The Court: The application is denied. 
Mr. Gladstein: And your ruling is excepted to. 
The Court: You accept it? 
Mr. Gladstein: Excepted to. 
The Court: Oh, excepted to. I thought it was 

queer. 
Now, where is another one with this "Out" busi­

ness~ 
Here is one, Challenge Exhibit 183-0. That on 

the first page has something like 15 or 20 names, and 
then two or three pages go by, and then you have a 
page with maybe 40 or 50 name.s, and a couple of 
pages are skipped, and you get 10 or 15 names, and 
so on. 

Mr. Sacher: Will your Honor state how many 
hundreds or thousands you passed since the last 
one-

The Court : I am not going to permit-! will 
state now I am not going to permit witnesses to be 
called to show where everyone of these persons lived 
and what kind of a place it is and all that sort of 
business. It seems to me that the person who goes 
through lists of ( 3958) registered voters and se­
lects which ones are to receive notices for qualifica­
tion is something that must be exercised in a more 
or less haphazard manner. I do not see how else it 
can be. You can't start in with one list and go 
through that whole list, because if you do that that 
will be criticized, and, as a matter of fact, whatever 
anybody does would probably be criticized too. S'o 
I am just going to put a stop to this, and we won't 
have any more examination about these lists that you 
have got here. I think what you desire to prove as 
to that, Mr. Gladstein, is sufficiently plain already. 

Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, it is not 
plain. What the Court has done in the last few 
minutes, which I object to, is to take the cross ex­
amination out of the hands of counsel; to draw as­
sumptions as to what proof will be offered without 
it being offered; to state that the proof that would 
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he offered on the Court's assumption would not be 
allowed, and the Court has found at this stage-I 
object to the finding of the Court that the selection as 
made was necessarily and as a matter of law a hap­
hazard selection, and that no other method could 
have been used, when in truth and in fact-

The Court: I did not intend to make any finding, 
Mr. Isserman, but you except to it just the same. 
That is all right. 

( 3959) Mr. Isserman: Well, may I complete 7 
The Court: Yes, you go ahead. 
Mr. Isserman: I was going to say, when in truth 

and in fact, if the examination along this line were 
allowed to be continued by the Court we will demon­
strate that there is nothing haphazard about leaving 
out from the persons chosen from the list of regis­
tered voters in the Bronx those areas in the Bronx 
which contain-

The Court: Now you raise your voice. 
Mr. Isserman: Well, I can do it very quietly, 

your Honor. 
The Court: Well, I will tell you what I am going 

to suggest : Let me think this over overnight. Per­
haps on reflection I may feel tomorrow that it is bet­
ter to let Mr. Gladstein go ahead and see if he is 
going to prove all those things that you say he is. 
Maybe it is better for you to do that. So I will 
consider the matter overnight and allow Mr. Glad­
stein to reopen the question as to these lists of regis­
tered voters in the morning. 

Mr. Gladstein : Very well. 
The Court: Mr. Sacher, you better give that 

paper back to the witness. 

(Adjourned to February 18, 1949, at 10.30 a.m.) 
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New York, February 18, 1949; 
10.30 a. m. 

The Court: Now, I have given consideration to 
that application made by the defense yesterday 
for certain 194 7 and 1948 records, or a sa1npling 
thereof, and I deny the application. 

And I a1ao rule that the cross-examination of 
Mr. Mci\::enzie must finish by three o'clock this after­
noon. 

Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, on the ques­
tion of your Honor's first ruling I believe that at 
one point-well, let me put it this way-that I had 
not fully stated the reasons why that ruling should 
not be made-

The Court: Now !lr. Is~Serman, let me make a 
suggestion: You and your colleagues have from now 
until three o'clock to conclude the cross-examination 
of Mr. McKenzie. I think you had better reserve 
matters of argument and exceptions and things of 
that kind until after that is concluded. Otherwise 
you may take up time that you would more profitably 
have used pursuing the questio1113 on his cross-ex­
amination. Now you may do as you choose. 

( 3961) lVIr. Isserman : Then, I will reserve my 
right to state for the record my objection to the rul­
ing your Honor n1ade in respect to the exan1ination 
of qualification notices. 

I would also like to state my objection to your 
Honor's ruling that the cros~.S-examination of Mr. 
McKenzie must finish at three o'clock as a denial 
of due process. 

The Court : Very well. 
Mr. Crockett: I assume, your Honor, that the 

reservation of the right to interpose an objection 
applies to each of the defense counsel1 

The Court: That is right, it applie~S to you all, 
and you may use the time between now and three 
o'clock as you choose, but I think it is wiser to 
pursue such questions as you desire to put to him 
and go to the n1ore irnportant matters first. But 
you may suit youmelves as to that. 
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Mr. Gladstein: Now, your Honor, there have 
been marked for identification certain registered 
lists and according to my notes these are marked 
183-A to 183-Y for identification, inclusive. 

Am I correct about that, Mr. Clerk? 
The Court: That is right. And I remember at 

the close of the session yesterday I stated that we 
would take a frooh start as to those today. I felt 
that (3962) I was so physically and mentally 
fatigued toward the end of the session yesterday 
that perhaps it would be better, as I then indicated, 
to take a fresh start as to those registered voting 
lists. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well. 
The Court: And you may disregard any rulings 

I made as to them in the latter part of the after­
noon and proceed just taking a fresh start. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well. 
I offer those in evidence. 
Mr. Gordon: No objection. 
The Court: They may be marked. And I would 

suggest that the clerk mark those at the recess. 
They all have marks for identification now, and he 
can mark them in evidence then, ISO as not to take 
the time to do it now; but you may use them just 
as though they were in evidence, as they now are. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 183-A to 183-Y 
for identification, inclusive, received in evidence.) 

Mr. Isserman: If the Court pleas,e, before we 
proceed, we have had several witnesses subject to 
call. May they be excUJsed for the balance of the 
day' 

The Court: Yes. You mean defense witnesses 1 
Mr. Isserman: Yes, because we don't kno·w if 

the Government has more 'vitnesses or not and­
(3963) The Court: That is right, they ':may be 

excused. 
Mr. IstSerman: Thank you. 
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JosEPH F. Mcl(ENZIE, resu1ned the stand. 

Cross examination continued by 111 r. Gladstein: 

Q. Now yesterday, lvfr. McKenzie, I showed you an ex­
hibit which was the registered list of voters for the year 
1946 for the Second Assernbly District of the Bronx. Do 
you recall that1 A. I do. 

Q. And it ~showed that nine names were n1arked on 
page 7 of that exhibit; do you recall that 1 A. I do. 

Q. Now am I correct that the mere fact that a mark 
has been placed upon the name of a person or alongside 
the name of a person appearing on one of those registered 
lists, 183-A to 183-Y, inclusive, does not necessarily mean 
that a notice to qualify as a juror has ever been sent to 
J.Such a person 1 A. It V{Ould indicate that a notice was com­
piled and put in the drawer up in my office, and as we 
would take the notices to mail them out, we would take 
them from the drawer and mail them out. 

Q. Now arn I correct that the n1ere presence of such a 
mark on a registered list does not mean that you have 
already sent a notice; am I correct about that1 A. No, 
I have a couple of thousand up in the drawer up there at 
the present time that is to be mailed out, and (3964) may 
have been compiled months ago. 

Q. :.M:r. McKenzie, is it not true then that there are 
names marked on these regiJ.stered lists of persons to 
whom you have never yet sent such notices; is that righU 
A. That is correct. 

Q. All right. So that the registered lists themselves 
and the markings upon them do not indicate one way or 
another a record of persons to whom you ~ent notices; 
correct1 A. It would indicate that there are marks in the 
book and notices have not yet been sent out. 

Q. Now, do you have any other record in your office 
to indicate who the people are whose names have been 
marked on these registered lists and to ·whom you actually 
did send notices to con1e in and qualify 1 A. We have no 
other means of knowing the name on that registered voting 
book. 

Q. Lsn 't it a fact that you do have questionnaires that 
are filled out by people "rho come in to your office in re­
sponse to notices to qualify1 A. That is true. 
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Mr. Gordon: That is objected to, your Honor, 
as argumentative. 

The Court: Sustained. 

Q. By looking at the-by the way, yo~ l~eep all q"!-es­
tionnaires that are filled out~ .li. The original question­
naire that is filled out is on file. 

(3965) Q. Is on file~ A. That is right. 
Q. And that is true, regardle:ss of whether the person 

who fills out the questionnair·e is thereafter accepted as 
eligible or found to be ineligible~ A. Any application that 
is filled out and sworn to by the juror is deferred or re­
jected or marked "eligible," and it is kept in the office of 
the jury clerk. 

Q. Therefore, a1n I correct that you could tell which 
of the persons ·whose names have been marked on the 
registered listts of voters have been sent notices by check­
ing against your questionnaire? 

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to; among other 
things, several days ago we went over this. 

The Court: Yes. Sustained. 

Q. Do you have the registered voting lists for the year 
1948 in your posBession ~ A. No, I haven't, sir. 

Q. When a person volunteers for jury service do you 
have that person fill out some uniform type of form 1 
A. The same application that all jurors fill out. 

Q. You do~ A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And is that in evidence? One of these regular ques­

tionnaires, you mean 1 A. A regular questionnaire. 
Q. W aB there ever a time when you used a different 

form for volunteers 1 

The Court: I think we had better stop to iden­
tify (3966) what the paper is. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well, your Honor. 
The Court: My recollection is that it is one of 

those ones that was annexed to the Tolman report. 
Mr. Gordon: A current one, your Honor, is 

marked BB. 
The Court: BB. Very well. Show it to the 

witness and have him identify it. 
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Q. Is this the form you have in mind, ~1r. Mcl(enzie 
(handing)~ A. That is correct. 

Q. How long hai.S this been in use~ This \vas substan­
tially- A. 1936, about the n1iddle of-sometime in 1936. 

Q. Now is it your testilnony that this form is the one 
that is used both for persons who cmne in to volunteer 
and for persons for whon1 you send 1 A. All jurors who 
fill out an application, it is the same form whether or not 
they be volunteerJS or taken fron1 the registered voting 
book or any book or list or anything at all; they all fill 
out the same questionnaire. 

Q. Have you ever used a different and further form 
for volunteers? 

Mr. Gordon: His question just now was, was 
this substantially the form, and that I think was 
what the witness says it was, substantially the form 
since 1936. 

(3967) The Court: Is that right, Mr. Mc­
Kenzie~ 

The Witness: Your Honor, there was a time 
when the office was piled up with all that work and 
they had a small notice that when a volunteer came 
in they would rusk him to fill this out, and when they 
got up-they didn't stay on those; when they were 
caught up with the work of the office they would send 
for them; in other words, to come in to fill out an 
application; they had filled out some application. 
But there was a time back in 1940 or so that the 
office had given a short form to anyone who walked 
in. In other words, they weren't accepting any 
volunteers at the time, any jurors; they were getting 
the clerical work caught up on and they gave them 
a short form, and when the court is in need of 
jurors-

Q. Just a moment. There :lis a form, perhaps I can 
show it to you. I show you Challenge Exhibit 103 in evi­
dence, and I turn to a document-

Mr. Gordon : I don't like to interrupt, but it is 
102. 
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Mr. ~fcGohey: 103 is the letter· that accompanied 
it. 

~{r. Gladstein: I beg your pardon. 
1fr. Sacher: 103 is the Chandler letter. 
The Court: "\Vait until I get that. 

( 3968) Q. And in the upper righthand corner-

The Court: Just a second until I get my list of 
exhibits. Go ahead. . 

Mr. Gordon: 102 is the report, your Honor, and 
103 is the letter of Mr. Chandler which accompanied 
the report. 

The Court: That is all right. 

Q. Now I show you on the page which follows page 9 
a page in the upper righthand corner of which appears the 
following: Exhibit 1, actual size 83h by 7 inches. I will 
ask you if that is a true copy of the type of form that 
was used for voluteers in the year 19401 A. Yes, that 
is correct, in 1940; I an1 not certain as to the date; it might 
have been '39. I am not positive as to the year that that 
was m3ed. 

Q. Over how long a period of time was it used 7 .A. Only 
a short time. I don't know as just the exact form,­

(3969) Q. Roughly. Several years 1 A. Oh no. 
Q. When did it cease~ When did you stop using it? 

A. Before I went in the Army; it had ceased possibly right 
at the start of the war, sometime in the latter part of 
1941. 

Q. What did you do with the forrms such as the one I 
have shown you used in conne.ction with volunteers for jury 
service~ Did you keep them on file~ .A. I believe they were 
kept in the drawer there for son1e time. 

Q. In what drawer? A. One of the drawers up in the 
office, file drawer. 

Q. In one of the files 1 A. That is correct. 
Q. Do you still have them on file? A. I don't believe 

so. 
Q. In what manner if any were these ever used? A. 

That I could not state. . 
Q. Now the qualification notice that you use is a true 

and correct copy of that ~hown as Exhibit 2 attached to 
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the Tolman memorandum 1 A. No, it is different, a little 
different today. 

Q. When did it change~ A. Well, the last batch of 
it shows when the last ones were n1ade up, I believe. 

The Court: Mr. Gladstein, I don't like to bother 
you, but when you two get together I just can't hear 
you. 

(.3970) Q. When did you stop using the form marked 
Exhibit 2 attached to the Toln1an Report 1 A. It is the 
same form but just an added-the qualification notice is 
the same; it has just a few lines of additional information. 
on the new qualification-the new notice to qualify. 

Q. Do you have a copy of the form that is now in 
use? 

1\1r. Gordon: I object to this as con1pletely ir­
relevant. A notice for a man to come in-here is 
one if they want to mark it. 

1\1r. Gladstein: I would like to, yes. 
Mr. Gordon: And it is just exactly what the 

witness says. It is practically the same. 
The Court: They have from now until three 

o'clock and bow they use their tin1e is up to them. 

Q. Is that a copy, sir~ A. Thai is one that is used 
in the office today. 

l\1r. Gladstein: I ask that it be 1narked and in­
troduced in evidence. 

Mr. Gordon: No objection. 

(nfarked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 228.) 

Q. Look at the next page of the Tolman memorandum. 
Do you see there a document marked Exhibit 3~ Do you 
still use that form, or substantially that form? .A. Sub­
stantially that form is still in use. 

Q. For the purpose indicated there, namely, for per­
sons (3971) who have not appeared in response to the 
:first notice; correct? A. It is also used for summonses, 
where a juror fails to appear on the summons, when he is 
summoned in for jury service. 
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Q. Very well. Now look at Exhibit 5 attached to the 
memorandum, the ~rolman memorandum. That is a re­
qualification notice, is it not? A. That is correct. 

Q. You still use that 1 A. Yes, we still have these 
in the office. 

Q. Look at the next one, Exhibit 6. That is a requali­
fication notice for women, is it not? A. That is correct. 

Q. You still use that? A. Yes; I don't know if these 
"women" are still there or we use the same one; I am 
not certain as to whether or not we still have some of 
these printed up and use them and whether or not we use 
the men qualification-in other words, one 'vas for men 
and one was for women. I don't know as there is any still 
in the office with "·,Nmnen" on. But when a juror comes in 
and asks any information we ask them to fill out one of 
these to give us the information so we can check the 
files. :Many jurors come in and inquire or write us they 
hadn't been called, when is there time up after serving, 
how long do they have to wait. So we give them these 
forms to fill out, and (3972) we check the name there 
given with whatever information is on the history card. 

Q. Look at Exhibit 7, the next page, attached to the 
Tolman memorandum. Do you still use this form in re­
sponse to inquiries as to when the person is going to be 
notified to come in and serve for jury duty f A. Yes, this 
is still on file at the office. 

Q. All right. Look at the next page. The next page 
is the history eard for men, is that not right, the history 
and wheel card f A. That is correct. 

Q. Do you still use those f · A. We use white for trial 
jurors and blue for grand. 

Q. And the -contents of those cards is the same as shown 
on Exhibit 8 attached to the Tolman memorandum? A. 
Yes, that is so. 

Q. Look at the next page, Exhibit 10. That is the form 
~sed for the wheel card of women, is it not~ A. Yes, that 
lS so. 

Q. Still used~ A. Yes, stUI in use. 
Q. Look at Exhibit 11. That is just the form that is 

used when a court orders a jury; correct? A. That is so. 
Q. That is still in use~ A. That is still in use. 
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Q. The next page, Exhibit 12, is the type of panel or 
jury list that is made up in your office regularly; ( 3973) 
correct f A. That is correct. 

Q . .And you still use the same form, right~ A. Yes. 
Q. What is Exhibit 13 f Do you still use that~ A. That 

is the precept which is attached to the panel. 

Mr. lvicGohey: Would you keep your voice up, 
please, Mr. McKenzie. 

Q. Will you look at Exhibit 21. Is that the wheel card 
for grand jurors 1 That is Exhibit 21 attached to the 
Tolman memorandun1 ~ A. Yes, that is so. 

Q. Still use those 1 A. Yes, we do. 
Q. Look at Exhibit 22. Is that the history card for 

grand jurors 1 A. Yes, but in a blue color. The color 
is blue. 

Q. And you still use it f A. Yes, we do. 
Q. Did you bring with you in response to the subpoena 

the address telephone book that you have used as a source 
from which the names of jurors have been taken 1 A. Yes, 
I have. 

Q. Would you hand it to me? A. (Witness hands book 
to Mr. Gladstein.) 

Mr. Gladstein: I have been handed a 1946 ad­
dress telephone book. I will ask that it be marked 
for identification. 

Mr. Gordon: Let us find out where it came from: 

(3974) By lf1r. Gordon: 

Q. Does this belong to you 1 A. No, it does not. 
Q. When did you get itf A. Sometime in the early 

part of 1947. It was borrowed from the Division of Jurors 
of the County Clerk of New York. 

Q. Have you had it since thenf A. Pardon me? 
Q. Have you had it since then? A. It has been in our 

possession since that time. 
Q. It belongs to them? A. Yes, it is their property. 
Q. Have you told them you would give it back? A. I 

did, when I get another one. 
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Mr. Gordon: I object to its being marked for 
identification unless there is some relevance to the 
inquiry. 

Mr. Gladstein: Perhaps we can avoid that. We 
have another copy that is very much the same. 

The Court: I think it would do no harm to 
mark it. I was a little sorry yesterday that I did 
not have that affidavit of Mr. McKenzie actually 
marked instead of being merely deemed in evidence. 
I think it will do no harm to mark it, and for my 
own convenience it will be helpful to have the marks 
on as n1any of these exhibits as possible. 

(Nlarked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 229 for 
identification.) 

( 3975) By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Mr. McKenzie, as I understand you you will return 
this book, Challenge Exhibit 229 for identification, back 
to the source from which you got it in exchange for a later 
one, is that it~ A. That is so. 

Q . .And this is the book that you have used to obtain 
names of people to whom you sent notices to come in and 
qualify as jurors, is that right~ A. That has been used. 

Q. And jurors have been obtained by that method, 
right 1 A. Yes, I would say so. 

Q. Is there anything in this book to indicate from 
what sections of 1\{anha ttan or Bronx or any portion of 
the Southern District of New York you obtained the names f 
A. Is there any information as to-

Q. Any indication by mark or notation of any kind 
within Challenge Exhibit 229 for identification to show who 
the people are or in what sections of the Southern District 
of New York they lived to whom you sent notices to come 
in and qualify for jury service 1 A. Well, they could 
make up cards from here and not mark it-

By the Court: 

Q. I know, but, Mr. McKenzie, you remember those 
registered voters lists, they had numbers and marks on 
them? (3976) A. Yes. 
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Q. Are there numbers and marks on that~ A. No, your 
Honor, we didn't want to deface this book. 

Q. That is right. That is what he is asking you in sub­
stance. A. Pardon me, there are some little marks where 
they did put on some a little line alongside the name in 
light pencil, and then it was called to their attention to put 
the narnes in cards and take the cards and send them out 
from there, and then as the juror came in we would take 
them off from the card rather than from the book. 

Q. So that generally speaking there were no marks put 
on there similar to the marks put on the voting lists 1 A. 
No, no marks, that is right. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. What type of cards were used on which to put the 
names and addresses of people whose names and addresses 
you got from this Challenge Exhibit 2291 A. A small 
2 x 4 card that I explained before on s01ne of those lists 
that were used. 

Q. Is there anything to distinguish those cards from 
cards that contained names obtained frorn different 
sources 1 A. No, there is not. 

Q. Where did you keep those cards 1 A. Those cards, 
if the juror came in and qualified, ( 3977) the card is 
marked whatever the disposition is and put in a file. 

Q. Which file 1 A. In the off file; the card that the 
notice was sent from, the card was made up. The card of 
the juror from the application goes into the active file 
of the juror, if he qualified, and if he didn't qualify it goes 
into the Off file. 

Q. So the Off file will contain all of these little cards 
of the size of 2 x 4 on which are the names and addresses 
of people to whom you sent notices to come in regardless 
of whether those people qualified or did not qualify, is that 
right? 

The Court: Let me ask a question: 

By the Court: 

Q. You said a moment ago what you did with the card 
when the juror came back, or the prospective juror came 
back and qualified. A. That is right. 
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Q. Now, where the prospective juror came back and 
he was not qualified, \vhat did you do with the card 1 A. 
That card was disposed of. It was treated like a qualifica­
tion notice. 

Q. Thrown away¥ A. That is right, your Honor. 

Mr. Gladstein: Now I desire to put in evi­
dence the telephone book, but I don't want to de­
prive the Federal court of this copy. We do have 
another copy that has (3978) been marked in evi­
dence, a 1948 one, but it is the same type, and I 
suggest that-

The Court: I see no reason why this book may 
not be marked in evidence. If the County Clerk or 
whoever it was over in the Division of Jurors in the 
Supreme Court, New York County, complains, why, 
I will take up the complaint and we will straighten 
it out together. 

:1rlr. Gladstein: Very well. I offer it. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 229 for identi­
fication receiveq in evidence.) 

Mr. Gordon: Has your Honor ever looked at one 
of those books 1 

The Court: I do not think that I have, except 
that I glanced at that other one when it was pro­
duced earlier, and I remember distinctly the testi­
mony of the witness about it. I do not want to take 
the time now. I want to let Mr. Gladstein go ahead 
with whatever questions he may have. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, in what part of your files in the Off list or 
Off files do you keep those 2 x 4 cards on which you put 
the names of persons, whether obtained from the telephone 
directory or other sources to whom you are going to send 
notices 1 A. Well, that is not used at all times, the 2 x 4 
cards. 

( 3979) Q. What else do you use 1 A. In other words, 
if you would use the registered voting book you do not 
make up a card; and possibly in instances of the tele-
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phone book they did not 1nake up cards if they got ~ check 
alongside of it. In other words, when you nohce the 
check-

Q. But in such instances where you do n1ake up these 
2 x 4 cards, where in your files do you keep them~ A. In 
the Off file. 

Q. What part 1 A. In the alphabetical arrangements 
along with all of the cards there. 

Q. Now, did those cards also contain the names that 
were taken from Poor's Directory1 A. Well now, when 
you say Poor's Directory-on this Directory of Directors 
that I had ocasion to use-

Q. Yes, the Directory of Directors. A. -there is cards 
in there for that, yes. 

Q. And how about the Engineer's Directory; cards 
also contained the names of- A. If they were in that 
1947 which show directory, so many mailed, there is a card 
in the Off file for such a Inan. 

Q. The same thing for college alun1ni 1 A. If it was 
used at this particular time-

The Court: ~fay I have those two books 1 I 
think it is 179 and 180. I would just like to have 
them before me. ( 3980) You may go right ahead. 

~{r. Gladstein: Thank you, your IIonor. 

Q. Do these cards indicate on then1 the source from 
which they were taken 1 A. No, they do not. 

Q. So, in other words, in looking at these little cards 
you would find a group of names some of which came from 
the Directory of Directors, some from the Engineers Direc­
tory, some from the telephone book, and so on, is tbati 
right? A. Now, if you are talking about 1947-back in 
1944, or back in 1940, I should say, the cards possibly were 
different marks than they are now from 1947 on. 

Q. I don't understand that, J\fr. ~fcKenzie. A. In other 
words, on these cards that went in there in 1947 we have 
the name and address of the juror. 

Q. Yes. A. And the busines-s address. 
Q. Yes. A. N o''r, possibly back in 1940 all they had 

on there 'vas a number and the name and address of the 
juror. So on 1947-
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Q. You mean your information is more complete on 
the card you had since 1947 ~ A. That is correct. 

Q. Now, you have not u~derst?od my quest~ on. I want 
to know if the cards used mther 1n 1940-or s1nce the be­
ginning of 1947 show on their face the source from which 
the name was obtained? A. No, they do not. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. 
(3981) Now, would your Honor be good enough 

to let the witness have those two exhibits Y 
The Court: Which two exhibits f 
Mr. Gladstein: Well, one he may have, the one 

that has the record of qualification notices sent in 
July 1942 and thereafter. 

The Court : You mean the book f I think it is 
Exhibit 180. 

1f.r. Gladstein: 180, yes, your Honor. 

(Exhibit handed to witness.) 

Q. Now, Mr. McKenzie, look at the first page on which 
there is writing-that is page 1, is it not, of this Exhibit 
180' It is a page marked 1 in the upper righthand corner, 
is it not' A. Page 1, that is correct. 

Q. Now, did you see whether according to that page you 
had occasion to send notices to people to come in and 
qualify for jury service who were taken from a list desig­
nated 13-E? 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, for the umpteenth 
time, July of 1942 the witness was not in the office; 
he did not make the record. I object to asking the 
witness whether the record shows that he did some­
thing. 

Mr. Gladstein: This is a record of the office. I 
am not going to argue it. If it means that we can't 
ask Mr. McKenzie whether according to the office 
records ( 3982) this particular list was used, then 
we will call Mr. Borman, who apparently was in 
charge. 

The Court: You see, it has already been made 
clear that he was not here at the time when he was 
off in the service, and I would think it a waste of 
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time to keep asking him what is substantially the 
same type of question about that. 

Mr. Gordon: There are some records in the book 
that he made but this is not one of them. A.nd that 
is the basis of my objection. 

The Court: Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: I may say, your Honor, that all 

I have in mind here is to have the witness testify ac­
cording to the records that certain lists which are 
given specific designations were used as sources, and 
I understand they are contained in the envelope-is 
that here, ~1r. Clerk~ 

The Court: You see, he was away then in the 
armed services and he does not know. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well then, we can get Mr. Bor­
man to identify them perhaps since he was here at 
the time. But I would think that Mr. McKenzie, who 
is in charge of the office, would know from the offi­
cial records whether it appears that a certain list 
wa·s used. 

The Court: Well, that question has come up 
again ( 3983) and again, and I make the same 
ruling that I made previously about it. 

Mr. Gladstein: l\fay I have the envelope that 
contains these lists 1 

(Clerk hands envelope to Mr. Gladstein.) 

1vir. Gladstein: Mark this, please, for identifica-
tion. 

Mr. Gordon: A.ren 't they all marked f 
Mr. Gladstein: They are all a part of­
Mr. Gordon: Oh, I am sorry. 
~fr. Gladstein: These are not marked. Do you 

apologize, Mr. Gordon 1 
Mr. Gordon : Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: The apology is accepted. 
The Court: These are the lists that were in that 

envelope. 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes, your Honor, and the en­

velope is marked Challenge Exhibit 165 for identifi­
cation. 

The Court : All right. 
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(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 230 for 
iden ti:fica tion.) 

Q. Now, 1\fr. McKenzie-

The Court: What is the number of that first one t 
Mr. Gladstein: 230. 

Q. Mr. McKenzie, I ask you to look at Challenge Ex­
hibit 230 for identification and state whether based on what 
you (3984) observe on it that document was used as a 
source from which names and addresses were taken of 
people to whom notices to qualify for jury service were 
sent~ A. It would indicate it was used during my time. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right, I offer it in evidence. 
Mr. Gordon: No objection. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 230 for identifica­
tion received in evidence.) 

Q. Now I show you a list of names and addresses of 
people with the stamp on the upper righthand corner in­
dicating it was supplied by the Federal Grand Jury Asso­
ciation under date of May 27, 1940. I ask you to state from 
your observation of that document whether it appears that 
that document was used as a source of names of persons 
to whom qualifying notices for jury service were sent T A. 
It would indicate it was used during my time. 

Mr. Gladstein: I ask that this be marked and 
received in evidence. 

Mr. Gordon: No objection. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 231.) 

Q. I show you another document taken from the same 
envelope, 165 for identification, and ask you to state upon 
your examination of this document whether it appears that 
it also was used as a source from which you took the 
names and addresses of people to whom you sent notices' 
( 3985) to come in and qualify as juror·s 1 A. I don: 't 
recognize the writing on this one at all. 

Q. What is the date? A. This one is in 1940. 
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Q. Doe.s it show on its face that persons, the names 
of persons were used from that source for jury service f 

The Court: I think the formula you used before 
was: Was that a source of nmnes of persons to 
whom notices were sent to come in and qualify for 
jury service? 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 

Q. Doesn't it appear on its face, ~fr. McKenzie, that it 
was such a source~ A. Yes, it would indicate that. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right, I offer it and ask that 
it be marked and received in evidence. 

I have in mind your three o'clock deadline, your 
Honor, so I would like to go through these quickly. 
You don't mind, Mr. Gordon, do you, if I go ahead T 

(3986) Mr. Gordon: Do I have to answer that 
question? 

Tho Court: Go ahead and indicate if you have 
any objection to it. 

Mr. Gordon: I want to look at the exhibit for a 
moment, your Honor. 

The Court: You have a right to do that. 
~fr. Gordon: Among other things, I note that 

some of these papers that are stapled together are 
just stapled together without there being any con­
tinuity between the top and the bottom sheets, and 
that is what I arn trying to find out. 

The Court: Yes. 
~fr. Gordon: No objection to this one. 

(l\farked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 232 in 
evidence.) 

Q. I show you another document taken from the same 
envelope and ask you to state whether from observation of 
it and particularly at the date at the bottom, l\fay 5, 1941, it 
appears that it was used as a source from which you ob­
tained the names and addresses of persons to whom you 
sent qualifying notices to come in and become jurors. A. 
There is not anything to indicate, Mr. Gladstein, whose 
writing or anything that I could tie it up with. 

LoneDissent.org



2013 

Joseph F. lllcl(enzie-for Govern1nent on Challenge-Cross 

Q. Regardless of whose writing is on there, can ( 3987) 
you not tell from your practice in the office and your knowl­
edge of the workings of your office that from the face of 
the document I have just handed you, it appears that this 
list was used as a source from which you took names and 
addresses of people to whom you sent qualifying notices Y 
.A. It would indicate that that was so. 

By the Court: 

Q. Did you mean to say that only a few were picked 
out and notices sent? A. Oh, no. I don't-

Q. Well, you see, you have got to listen to the question. 
The question as put would indicate to me that you only 
used part of the names. I thought possibly you did not 
notice that in there. 

Do you mean to indicate that as far as you can tell all 
of those names were used for the sending out of notices f 
A. I have no idea, your Honor. 

Q. One way or the other~ A. One way or the other. 
That is just the list I am trying to identify from some 
writing, something on there as to whose writing I might 
recall back in 1941-

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. As I understand it, your testimony is that as to 
this last exhibit you are now testifying to, it was used 
(3988) as a ·source of potential jurors but you cannot now 
say how many of the persons on that list were sent notices? 
A. And the other lists, as a matter of fact. 

Q. Is that correct? A. That applies to the others too. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right, I offer this and ask that 
it be marked and received in evidence. 

Mr. Gordon: With the understanding that his 
testimony is that he does not know whether the 
people were sent for or not-

Mr. Gladstein: No, he does know-
The Court: He says that as far as he can tell 

from looking at it it was used as a source of names 
of persons to whom notices were sent to come in 
and qualify for jury service; is that right, Mr. Mc­
Kenzie? 
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The Witness: That is correct, your Honor. 
Mr. Gordon: But as to all of the lists he said, 

your Honor, "I don't know how many of the notices 
were sent for." 

The Court: Or whether they were all sent for. 
Mr. Gordon: That is right. 
The Court: He has no personal knowledge of 

that. I understand. 
The Witness: That is right. 

(3989) (Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 
233 in evidence.) 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now I show you another document dated April 22, 
1941; the Federal Grand Jury .Association stamp appears 
on it; and the designation "6-List," to which are attached 
pages which refer to May 1, 1941, and also June 2, 1941, and 
I will ask you to state upon your examination of this docu­
ment whether it appears that it was used as a source from 
which you took the names and addresses of persons to 
whom you sent qualifying notices, or your office sent 1 A. I 
can't tell much about this one. 

Q. Look at the last three pages. Do they bear check 
marks! A. There are check marks in front of the name. 

Mr. McGohey: Will you keep your voice up, 
please, Mr. McKenzie. 

The Witness: There are check marks in front 
of the name. 

Q. Now, in view of your testimony the other day, upon 
using names on these lists, using them in the sense of send­
ing notices to the persons whose names were on the list, 
you either drew a line through the name or used a cheek 
.mark placed against the name, or perhaps the letter E, or 
some other letter, wa.s placed alongside the name- ( 3990) 
are you able now to say whether the document in your 
hand was used as a source from which you obtained-

The Court: That preliminary point you have on 
there is a little confusing. 
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Mr. Gladstein: I think not. It has been so 
testified, your Honor. 

The Court: If it be deemed a summary of all 
his testimony about it, I think it hardly fair to have 
him stop and think about all that he testified on the 
subject. Why don't you ask him to look at the paper 
and see if he can tell from the marks that are on 
there whether it was used as one of the sources Y 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
Well, that is my question. 

Q. Now, as the Court has changed my question, will 
you please answer 1 A. No, I cannot. 

Mr. Gladstein: Then we had better have that 
marked for identification, since you testified about it. 

Mr. Gordon: May I point out, your Honor, that 
this is one of those papers I was talking about. 
There are 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 pages, but 
they are not all pages from one list. The first-as 
Mr. Gladstein pointed out earlier, the first four 
pages are dated April 22, 1941, and there is a nota­
tion '' 6-List '' in the corner. 

The Court: Yes. 
( 3991) Mr. Gordon : Then you start with a list 

of May 1, 1941-
Mr. Gladstein: With the designation-
Mr. Gordon: -and it has "6-List" written all 

over again. So apparently somebody took-
Mr. Gladstein: And-
lVIr. Gordon: Wait a minute. I.Jet me finish the 

sentence. 
1rir. Gladstein: Please, :finish the paper. 
Mr. Gordon: So apparently somebody took sev­

eral lists and put them together. 
Now, lVfr. Gladstein asks that I :finish the descrip­

tion, and I will do that. The second list of May 1st 
has 1, 2, 3,-that has four pages. 

J\.fr. Gladstein: Now-
Mr. Gordon: Now, you just asked me to do this. 
Mr. Gladstein: I object to this-, because it is 

consuming unnecessarily-
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The Court: Don't you see, ~1r. Gordon, that 
with these passages it will only lay a foundation 
for counsel perhaps later to claim that the time to­
day that might have been used for cross-examination 
was consumed in colloquy. So make your descrip­
tion just as brief as you can. 

l\fr. Gordou: And tho last list is dated June 2, 
( 3992) 1941, and also has "6-List" and it has three 
pages, and that is the one which has some check 
marks in front of the names, and the names are 
checked off, but there is no other indication on it. 

The Court: Very well. 
l\1r. Gladstein: All I have asked is that this be 

marked for identification. 

(l\Iarked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 234 for 
identification.) 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now I show you another document bearing a date 
August 20, 1940, again the Federal Grand Jury Association 
stamp on it; please look at that and state whether from 
your examination you can state whether this list was used 
as a source of potential jurors. A. This would indicate 
that it was used-

Q. That it was so used 1 A. That it was so used. 

~fr. Gladstein: I ask that it be marked and 
received in evidence. 

Mr. Gordon: May I see it1 

(Paper handed to Mr. Gordon.) 

Mr. Gordon: I will simply state that this one 
again, your Honor, appears to be more than one list 
put together, but I will take no further time than 
that. 

The Court: Very well. You have no objection 
(3993) to it? 

Mr. Gordon: No. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 235 in 
evidence.) 
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Q. I show you another document dated March 21, 1941, 
and I will ask you to state whether upon your examination 
of it you are able to state that it was used as a source 
of potential jurors 1 A. Yes, that is true. 

1fr. Gladstein: I ask that it be marked and re­
ceived in evidence. 

Mr. Gordon: No objection. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 236 in 
evidence.) 

Q. I hand you a document containing names and ad­
dress-es; the date of the document is February 5, 1941; the 
Federal Grand Jury Association stamp appears on the 
document. Examine that and state in answer to the same 
question whether it appears it was used as a source of 
jurors~ A. Yes, that is so. 

Mr. Gladstein: I ask that it be marked and re­
ceived in evidence. 

Mr. Gordon: I am going to object to this unless 
we get some idea of what the marks mean or who 
put them on there. 

Mr. Gladstein: The witness has already­
(3994) The Court: Just a second, I .am making 

a note here. 
Very well, you may question the witness as to 

that, Mr. Gordon. 
11:r. Gladstein: This is over my objection, your 

Honor. The witness has already said this source 
was used-

The Court: The objection is sustained. The 
paper may be marked for identification. 

Mr. Gladstein: I have asked that it be received 
in evidence, your Honor. 

The Court: Let me see it. 

(Paper handed to Court.) 

The Court: What is the question you had about 
it, Mr. Gordonf 

Mr. Gordon: There is writing on there after 
the names indicating-
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The Court: You wanted to know whose hand­
writing it was~ 

l\1r. Gordon: I want to know who put the notes 
on and when, your Honor. 

Mr. Gladstein: I would think that is a proper 
subject for r.edirect examination, your Honor. 

The Court: Probably that is so. 
Mr. Gordon: I object to the exhibit on the ground 

that it is not competent, because there has been no 
foundation ( 3995) laid for its reception in evi­
dence. 

By the Court : 

Q. Did you say, l\1r. :McK.enzie, that this paper, this 
list of February 5, 1941, in your judgment had been used 
as a source of names for prospective jurors 1 A. All I 
am saying is that I was in the office at that time, but as 
to anyone, myself or my .assistants, I cannot tell by the 
checks on them. 

Q. You have said as to a variety of these lists that 
while you did not do it personally it was your judgment 
from your knowledge of the practice in the office that the 
particular list had been used as a source of names of 
persons to whom notices wer.e sent to come in and qualify 
for jury service. 

Now I am .a.sking you whether, looking at this paper, 
you can make a similar answer, or is this different from 
the others~ A. This is different; but, your Honor, all I 
am testifying to on this list here, they w.ere in my office 
at the time, and I assume that notices and everything 
were sent to these people. But as to this writing on here, 
I can't identify the writing. 

The Court: I will receive it. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 237 in 
evidence.) 

(3996) By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. I show you a document da.ted February 15, 1941, 
Federal Grand Jury Association stamp. Please examine 
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it and state whether you can give to the same question 
the answer as to whether that document bears evidence 
that you have used it in your office as a source of potential 
jurors. 

The Court: Did you say that he used it, Mr. 
Gladstein1 

1\fr. Gladstein: I beg your pardon, your Honor? 
The Court: Did you say that he used it or­
Mr. Gladstein: The office. 
The Court: The office' 
lvlr. Gladstein: His office, yes. 
The Court: Very well. 

A. It would indicate that this was in the office at the time. 
Q. It would indicate more than that, wouldn't it, Mr. 

:McKenzie? Doesn't it indicate that you used the names 
there as people to whom you sent notices to come in and 
become jurors? A. I would say yes. 

1v1r. Gladstein: Yes. 
Mr. Gordon: Now I object to that, your Honor. 

That is the sort of thing where the counsel is brow­
beating the witness. 

( 3997) The Court: W.ell, I don't really think 
there is any browbeating going on. It is just an 
inflection of the voice that Mr. Gladstein and his 
eolleagues have a way of doing when they want to 
indicate to me that they have got something good. 
Then they give that little inflection. I do not think 
it bothers the witness any, .and if it is something 
good, why, maybe I will hear about it now. I would 
like to. 

Q. Isn't it a fact as to this list-

Mr. Gladstein: First of all, let us have this 
marked for identification in view of the witness's 
answer. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 238 for 
identification.) 

Mr. Gladstein: I think it should be received 
in evidence in view of his testimony. May I ask 
that that be done1 
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The Court: Yes. That is going to be 238, 
isn't it1 

The Clerk : 238 in evidence. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 238 for identi­
fication received in evidence.) 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Mr. :McKenzie, isn't it a fact that examination of 
Challenge Exhibit 238 shows that choices were made as 
between whether you put certain people on the grand 
(3998) jury or petit jury; correctf A. No choices was 
made to-

Q. Do you see the letters '' GJ' '-

The Court: Wait a minute. Let him say. 

A. (Continued) There was no choices made, your Honor. 
Possibly the marking on here would indicate as to whether 
or not the man went in a trial jury or the grand jury. 

Q. All right. What markings~ What markings, please f 
A. Well, on this particular list it has got "P J." 

Q. What does that mean 1 A. I don't know what it 
meant. 

Q. What is that~ 

Mr. Gordon: He said he didn't kno:w what was 
meant by it. 

A. "PJ"-I am just trying-

The Court: It might be petit jury. 
The Witness: Petit jury back in 1941. Petit 

jury. 
The Court: And ''GJ''f 
The Witness: There is "GJ," which might be 

grand jury. 

Q. You think that that is probably true, do you 7 

By the Court: 

Q. And it was one of your duties, as you described it 
here, yesterday, to help to select and determine which 
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ones you thought were .eligible for the grand jury f A.. 
That is correct. 

(3999) Q. Now, you can't remember, however, as to 
this paper whether that was done or not because you 
personally did not do it~ A. That is true. 

Q. That is not your own handwriting on that paper 1 -
A. That is correct, your Honor. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. But it is your best judgment that where the name 
is marked '' P J," that means the man became a petit juror; 
where it is marked ''GJ," it means he became a grand 
juror, is that right~ A. That would be the term that 
would be used. 

Q. And where you find on checking and you see a name 
was on a former list, your office put the words ''old list''; 
is that right? Do you see the words ''old list'' after any 
name there1 A. I see "old list" but I don't know what 
that means. 

Q. Now, do you see "XY list" in this document1 A.. 
After this name is marked '' XY list.'' 

Q. Would that indicate that this document was used in 
part for the purpose of having the name as to which you 
have the expression '' XY list'' attached, put on a list 
called the '' XY list''; correct? A.. I don't know. 

Q. Did you have an '' XY list'' in the office' 

1fr. Gordon: I think you have already offered 
in evidence-

( 4000) 1\lr. Gladstein: This is in evidence. 
Mr. Gordon: I say I think you have .already 

offered in evidence a list that had XY on it. I think 
that was one that was marked. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. 

Q. Did you have such a list, an XY list' A. If it is 
there. I certainly couldn't tell now. . 

The Court: The ones I have here this morning, 
one bears '' F list,'' '' XA list,' ' '' T list. '' I don't 
remember one of that particular designation that 
you have just mentioned, but according to the testi-
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mony of the witness as to how these symbols were 
selected, the purpose of them would be to put them 
on the carc1s so they might serve as identification 
marks; and I don't see that there is much point 
to it. 

Is there some mystery about that? 
:hir. Gladstein: No mystery. I just wanted to 

know if be had such a list, your Honor. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. I show you a document \vhich comes out of the same 
envelope-

The Court: What happened to 238 ~ Did that 
go in evidence~ 

Mr. Gladstein: That was received. I thought 
it was. 

( 4001) The Court: Let me just glance at that. 
Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, briefly, the point I 

was trying to make in the objection before, without 
,suggesting anything to the witness, was that there 
should be an inquiry as to whether the '' P J'' and 
the '·'GJ" was put on there before the man came in 
or after he came in. 

Mr. Gladstein: This is all redirect examination. 
The Court : Well, I think it is pretty clear, Mr. 

Gordon, from Mr. McKenzie's testimony, that there 
was no selection of people before these notices went 
out; that he did not know anything about the people 
before the notices went out, and the inference I 
would naturally draw is that whatever marks about 
petit jury and grand jury which were put on, were 
put on after the person came in and had been in­
terviewed and filled out his questionnaire, and .so 
on. 

Mr. Gordon: Then I withdraw any objection. 
The Court: But let me ask you something about 

this, Mr. McKenzie. 

By the Court: 

Q. This is one of those lists submitted by the Federal 
Grand Jury .Association dated February 15, 1941, Chal-
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lenge Exhibit 238. Now, was it not the case that when a 
list like that was brought in, somebody checked to see 
whether ( 4002) the persons whose names were on there 
were already on the jury list' A. That is correct, your 
Honor. 

Q. Well, if they found that they were, would it be a 
proper notation to say "old list''~ A. They might do that 
or they might strike a line through the name-

Q. But you don't know about that~ A. That is true. 
Q. That is because this paper 238 does not bear your 

handwriting? A. That is correct. 
Q. And you haven't any recollection of doing anything 

about it yourself~ A. That is true, your Honor. 

By Il1r. Gladstein: 

Q. Now did you yourself put any marks on any of these 
exhibits? A. I would have to look through them. I could 
tell-

Q. Don't you remember? A. No-

The Court: Well, I have heard him identify his 
handwriting on .some of them, so if there is any point 
about it get out the one you want to question him 
about. 

Q. Now, what were the instructions you gave to your 
assistants as to wliat they ought to do with the particular 
list when they have made use of it? A. Instructions as to 
what, Mr. Gladstein 1 

Q. Well, suppose you were given a list by the Federal 
( 4003) Grand Jury .Association, as you were given many, 
and you took that list and gave it to an assistant and you 
-said, ''Now, I want you to -check first of all to see whether 
any of these people are in our active files "-is that right Y 
A. Or in our off files. 

Q. "Or in our off files.'' All right. And once a check 
was made, if the name was found in one or the other file 
I suppose you gave instructions to scratch out or dispose of 
that name; is that right? 

The Court: Did you give separate instructions 
as to every list that came in 1 
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The Witness: No, your Honor. The man who 
was doing it was carrying it on as long as he was 
there. 

The Court : You see, the way you are testifying, 
it might look as though with each list you gave sep­
arate instructions. 

The Witness: No, by no means. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. So it was your general instructions and general 
practice under those instructions that this procedure would 
take place as you have described it, is that right? A. That 
is so. 

(Short recess.) 

( 4004) The \Vitness: This list has no date on, 
the year at least. I don't see any year on that 
one. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Well, can you not by examining it and the markE 
on it, the writing on it, the lines drawn through names, 
your knowledge of the practice in your office, the fact that 
this was taken from your files, tell us, 1Ir. ~fcKenzie, wheth­
er this list was used as a source of names of people to whom 
you sent qualifying notices for jury J.Service 1 A. I don't 
know on this. There is no year or anything to indicate. 

The Court : The answer is noT 
The Witness: No. That is right, your Honor. 
Mr. Gladstein: May it be marked for identifica-

tionT 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 239 fo~ 
identification.) 

Q. From what file in your office did this last numbered 
exhibit come, Mr. McKenzieT A. I would say it came in 
that envelope there with all the other-
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Q. All the other what~ A. List.s that you have on the 
table there. 

Q. Lists that were used as sources of jurors; right~ 

Mr. Gordon: Objected to. 
The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Gordon: If Mr. Gladstein wants to offer all 

( 4005) the lists and argue fr0111 thern that it ap­
pears that some of them were u,sed for that purpose 
and son1e were not, we have no objection. He can 
go through them one by one. 

The Court: It sounds like a good proposition. 
1\:fr. Gladstein: Very good. I will accept it. 
The Court: That rneans the ones just marked 

for identification go in evidence with the rest f 
Mr. Gordon: Yes, your Honor. 
The Court: That is a fine proposition. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibifu 234 and 239 
for identification received in evidence.) 

The Court: You will mark those, Mr. Bormani 
just count them and reserve numbers for those, so 
that while the rest of us are eating lunch you can 
enjoy yourself putting those numbers on. 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, perhaps Mr. Glad­
stein and I could agree on the question to the wit­
ne:.ss, or I will ask it and you may object to it. 

1t1r. Gladstein: You ask it, and I will tell you. 
Mr. Gordon: This envelope with these lists, Mr. 

Mcl(enzie, these are lists which are kept in your 
office which include lists fro1n which names were ob­
tained? 

The Witness: That is correct. 
Mr. Gordon: Doe;s the envelope purport to con­

tain all the lists from which names were con­
tained~ 

( 4006) The Witness: All that is in my office. 
Mr. Gordon: All that is in your office. 
The Witness: That is right. 
Mr. Gordon: And all that were ever used? 
The Witness: That I do not know. That I could 

not state. 
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Mr. Gordon: Well, that is the point, your Hon­
or. I do not want it to appear that these are all 
the lists if they are not ; if there were some others 
that are not there or they do not have any more. 
I would like that brought out, and then I would have 
no objection. 

The vVitness : That is possible. 
The Court: .All that you have of that char-

acter-
The Witness: They are all there. 
The Court: There might have been some others T 
The Witness: Yes, your Honor. 
The Court: But there might-
The Witness: That is true, your Honor. 
Mr. Gordon: Included in the list, in these papers 

are some final notices and things of that kind~ 
The .Witness: Yes. 
The Court: Whatever the n1arks on there may 

be, why, Mr. Gladstein and his colleagues may ar­
gue from that later. 

Mr. Gladstein: Let the record be clear, because 
( 4007) we have been saying such things as "these 
papers'' and so on, that we are now discussing the 
remaining lists contained within the envelope which 
has been marked 165 for identification, and that 
these are the lists which came from the jury clerk's 
office, and these lists are the ones which contain the 
names and addresses of people to whom notices as 
shown on the lists-

Mr. Gordon: No. 
The Court: You see, Mr. Gladstein, the testi­

mony seems perfectly clear to me. He has said that 
he got or that the clerk in his office got names from 
various sources to make up these thousands upon 
thousands of persons to whom notices were mailed 
to come in and qualify as jurors. Now, I do not 
think anybody is going to claim that lists that were 
got from the-lists of registered voters are among 
those names-

Yr. Gladstein: Oh, we are not talking about 
that. 
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